A
RRAMARIN

02045779

SUPPORTING YOUR SUCCESS

PROCESSED

JuL 172002

THOMSON l?
FINANCIAL

eCollege

ANNUAL REPORT 2001



¢ A

At eCollege,we have built

hoth our business model and

corporate cuilture around one

Simple principle — an absolute

||

Lommitment to supporting the

syccess Of our customers.

WAKLEIGH THORNE
X R & i 0 H BOARD

L H UTIVE U



A LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Success is what we strive to achieve for our customers, for our company, and ultimately, for our investors. At eCollege, we have
built both our business model and corporate culture around one simple principle — an absolute commitment to supporting the
success of our customers. By focusing on the success and growth of our customers’ online programs, eCollege continues to build its
business in the face of an evolving industry.

Our business model continues to work. Built around a student fee pricing structure, our business model provides a predictable
pay-as-you-grow benefit to our customers and steady recurring revenues to us. This model has survived a venture capital
onslaught of move than $1 billion in the eLearning industry since our company'’s founding in 1996. This model has stood stead-
Jast against so-called new economy competitors, many of which are either out of business today or are artempting to dramatically
raise their software license pricing to survive. This model reinforces our commitment to our customers’ success: it is through the

growth of their programs that our business grows.

eLearning solutions continue to work for our customers. Through applications that include our industry-leading, faculty-designed
course management system; digital campuses and online administrative functions; a highly reliable, scalable and secure hosted
environment; and all the support services that administrators, faculty and students need, eCollege provides all the factors critical
to online program success. At a time when media headlines routinely highlight big-name institutions struggling with, or closing
down, their online programs, many of our clients are experiencing strong faculty and student satisfaction, retention levels,
graduation rates and overall program growth and profitability.

2001 in Review
2001 was a year of achievement and learning, positioning eCollege
well for the furure. Our three key goals for 2001 were to:

1. Attain positive Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation

and Amortization (“EBITDA”) by the end of the year.

2. Continue to lead and grow the full online distance education
market.

3. Secure a broader on-campus presence with enterprise-wide
solutions to our customers.

EBITDA Positive by Year-end

Not only did we accomplish our objective to become EBITDA
positive by year-end, we did so for the entire fourth quarter. We
were the first higher education eLearning provider to announce
this accomplishment. Achieving an EBITDA positive operation
not only diminishes the need for further funding as we progress
to profitability, but also is important ta our current and praspective
clients, as a prime customer concern in this young in_dustry is
vendor stabilicy.

Distance Leadership

We were successful in continuing our leadership in full online
distance education programs. Our customers same-school
online course enrollments grew 90% from 2000 to 2001, while
total distance enrollments hosted by eCollege increased 101%.
We added 49 new Educational Partners in 2001, bringing our
total customer base to 249. eCollege continues to achieve
industry-leading levels of ASP performance, crucial to a distance
program’s success, including internal system availability of
99.97% for the year and 97% of help desk calls answered live,
with 95% answered in less than five minutes.

On-Campus Presence

Although we did not develop the on-campus segment as
aggressively as desired, we gained valuable experience from
our initial implementations. Some significant customers such
as Rutgers University and The Keller Graduate School of
Management contributed to a total of 45,000 on-campus
enrollments. Importantly, this experience of hosting and
supporting our elearning solutions for on-campus students
provided us valuable insight into this segment. We
learned that the cost to eCollege and the value equation to
institutions are different for on-campus course supplements
versus full online courses. Administrators expect a lower
price, as on-campus course supplements are seen as another
operational cost to the institution. This contrasts to the
incremental revenue and profit nature of a full online
distance program, which demands more out of its eLearning
system, including higher reliability, greater user activity and larger
storage loads, thus justifying a higher price-value equation.

Stock Performance in 2001

Our stock price reflected the overall volatility in the financial
markets in 2001. Our price opened 2001 at $4.25 and ended
the year at $3.17, a decline of 25%. This compares to a decline
in the NASDAQ composite of 15% over this same period. We
have been pleased with our stock price performance thus far in
2002, with our price appreciating 29% through the date of this
letter, May 15, 2002, compared with a decline in the NASDAQ
composite of 12% during this same period.

We are confident in our future as evidenced by the announce-
ment of our executive team purchasing a block of 417,000 shares
in March 2002. We hope the financial markets will share our
confidence in 2002.




2002 Direction

In 2002 we will remain focused on continued growth within the
eLearning industry behind our proven business model, extend our
financial progress, increase our product technology advantage, and
strengthen our internal team. Specifically, we will strive to:

1. Achieve EBITDA positive financial performance for the entire second
half of the year and progress toward profitability, as measured by net
income, by early 2003.

2. Continue leadership and growth in the full online distance
education market, providing full enterprise-wide solutions for

institutions committed to large distance programs.

3. Deploy a steady stream of meaningful product advancements that
furthers our technology advantage and drives interest in the
marketplace.

4. Maintain and strengthen an already strong management team
and employee base.

Performance

In 2002 we are targeting operations to be EBITDA positive for the entire
second half of the year, with some variability up to that time expected
given the nature of the school year and our selling season. We will strive
to increase revenue through growing student enrollments at our
current clients and conducting sales and marketing activity to acquire new
customers with strong growth potential, while continuing to invest in new
product development efforts for the future.

Markets

In 2002 we will remain focused on the distance segment of the higher
education eLearning market where we have found the greatest growth
rate and biggest source of revenue and margin. As our clients rely on
our high levels of performance and support for their successful distance
programs, they have expressed interest in bringing our eLearning tools
to their on-campus curriculum. We will take an aggressive, yet fis-
cally sound, approach to providing full on- and off-campus enterprise
solutions for customers committed to large distance programs, based
on a deeper understanding of the on-campus cost drivers gained from

our 2001 experience.

Additionally, we plan to expand on our prior efforts from the last two
years in the emerging virtual high school market. As an early leading
provider to state- and district-wide online programs, we are well
positioned to increase our market share. Importantly, we have found
that the products and support services that make online post-secondary
education programs successful are in line with those that make a
virtual high school program successful.

Products

In 2002 we will deploy a steady stream of meaningful product
advancements to increase our competitive advantage in the market-
place and drive further interest in eCollege solutions. To achieve this
we must do four things:

Prioritize and deploy the most relevant product advancements
by understanding the needs of the market. Among the most important new
product capabilities for 2002 are Section 508 compliance, (i.e., federally
required accessibility for the disabled), an advanced suite of synchronous
tools, and greater modularity and integration of digital campus packages.

Shorten our new product cycle time while maintaining high quality
assurance by improving our cross-functional processes and development
capabilities.

Provide greater levels of system integration, customization and flexibility
of eCollege applications to our customers by evolving our N-Tier
software architecture. We shall embrace an emerging set of protocols
and standards that will allow our eLearning applications to work more
fluidly in an institution’s overall portfolio of technologies.

Begin developing a series of value-added content products and services
to help institutions more efficiently create and deliver academically
sound instruction by solidifying meaningful business relationships
with major publishers, revamping our course development line of
services, and developing advanced content management technologies
to address the evolving needs of the market.

People

In 2002 we will maintain and strengthen our already strong management
team and employee base. We are increasing our knowledge and
experience of both the senior administrative and the CIO aspects of
higher education. Additionally, we are bringing in leadership for our
course development services to advance these offerings to the next
level that our evolving market demands. Finally, we will strive to keep
retention rates above market norms to maintain continuity of service
and draw upon our increasingly strong industry experience.

In Closing

Looking back, 2001 was a year of important accomplishment
accompanied by further gains in market knowledge. Best of all, at a time
when the industry is shaking out from an over-investment of venture
capital over the past few years, with many failed actempts in this industry
evident, we are pleased to report the eCollege approach is working.
While competitors are urgently trying to find a financial model to
support their long-term survival, we are staying the course and positioning
ourselves for continued progress. By maintaining focus on our key
markets and strengthening our performance, products and people,
2002 will be a pivotal year for accelerated growth in the future.

The eCollege equation is simple: Placing our customers’ success and
growth front and center in all that we do translates to the growing

success of eCollege for our investors.
Sincerely,

Ol S e

Oakleigh Thorne
Chief Executive Officer & Chairman of the Board




PROFILES

SUCCESS

D EVRY U NIVERSITY provides high-quality, career-oriented undergraduate and graduate programs in technology, business and
management through its system of campuses, adult-learner sites and the online center to meet the needs of a diverse and geographically dispersed

student population. Its holding company, DeVry Inc., is one of the largest publicly held higher-education campuses in North America.

NEED: DeVry University was looking for ways to contribute to
its overall growth objectives and take advantage of efficiencies
in its business operations. The university wanted to implement
an online delivery system that would help achieve its mission
of serving busy working adults by reaching those whose
demanding schedules preclude attendance at DeVry’s campuses

and centers.

SOLUTION: DeVry has offered online courses since 1997, when The Keller
Graduate School of Management launched successful distance-learning degree
programs relying on the technology and services from eCollege. In June 2000,
based on its performance with the graduate division, eCollege support was
expanded to build and implement DeVry Online, through which it offered
undergraduate degree programs online. Recently, the graduate and undergraduate

online operations came together as DeVry University Online.

BENEFITS: DeViry University Online is helping drive overall growth at DeViy University. The institution has been
pleased with its online enrollment, which continues to grow. DeVry University Online plans to eventually offer
every graduate course in the curriculum online, as well as launch additional undergraduate degree programs online.
As DeVry continues to expand geographically, the online programs will provide additional flexibility for its on-site

students, augmenting what its campuses can offer.

DeVry \J

University

UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST

is a public university assisted by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
offering an excellent education at a nationally ranked research
institution. Its size, diversity and the richness of its academic and
extracurricular offerings provide almost unlimited possibilities for

personal growth and professional development.

NEED: To better serve its working students who found it difficult
to attend campus classes, the Division of Continuing Education
at University of Massachuserts Amherst wanted w offer asynchronous,
Web-based instruction. To “play large” and replicate online its
well-established continuing education degree programs, the university
needed an eLearning partner that not only provided the technology, but

crucial support services.

SOLUTION: In just two months, a credentialed team from eCollege
implemented its hosted suite of elLearning applications. The team
helped convert Continuing Education classes in nursing, management
and public health into online courses and programs. In addition to the
technology, eCollege provided the know-how and critical services such
as instructional design consulting and administrative, faculty and student
support crucial to the program’s success. Ongoing enhancements

suggested by the faculty have also played a key part in the full solution.

BENEFITS: Today, the school is playing very large, indeed. Its
distance-learning program is turning heads, with U.S. News & World
Report ranking it among the Nations best. Their distance-learning
Continuing Education has grown from one course for a handful of
public health students to seven degree programs. More than 1,500
students registered for 82 online courses during the
past academic year. The programs revenues have
soared from $9,600 to $1.4 million since the debut
just over two years ago.

BISMARCK STATE COLLEGE, founded in 1939, isa

member of the North Dakota University System, and is the region’s
comprehensive community college. Bismarck State College provides
student-centered teaching in three areas: transfer; technical and corporate

and continuing education, which includes workforce training.

NEED: Faced with a dramatic decline in the local high school population,
Bismarck State College sought new ways to sustain student enrollment
and revenue. To effectively extend its course offerings via the Web and
reach new students, Bismarck needed to establish a credible online
program and renovate their old eLearning technology, which was

proving to be unreliable and difficult to scale.

SOLUTION: Bismarck State College carefully avoided other institutions
low-cost software license approach to online education. Administrators
knew they would have to choose the right eLearning partner to deliver the
technology and services for full online programs so they could focus their
energy on the strength of their curriculum. In 1999, the eCollege team
implemented a fully online distance-learning program in just a few months.

BENEFITS: Bismarck State College achieved their enrollment objectives
and expanded their programs nationally, setting an enrollment record
of 2,744 students for the 2000/01 school year. Bismarck State College
now leads the state in online education, having grown more than
100% every year for four straight years. Distinctive online certificate

and associate degree programs in Power/Process Plant Technology,

Electric Power Technology and Criminal Justice, comprised Wit
. PN
of nearly 100 total online courses, attract larger workforce RS O3

training enrollments, and garner support from industrial — ESwReRstECowEGE

l‘D\ y

companies and associations that provide valuable assis-
tance with customized curriculum and a pool of teaching

faculty in their fields.




A GLANCE AT 2001: FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2001 was a year of great success for many of our customers, and their success was reflected in our financial
results. By focusing on the growth of our customers online programs, eCollege’s revenue increased to
819.8 million. Student fee revenue increased 85% over 2000 and our business model has allowed us to
show continued improvement in our bottom line while maintaining our commitment to the success of our

customers and continuing to invest in our future.

Millions Revenue Growth
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¢ Our revenue increased by 58.3% for the 2001 year compared to 2000,
driven by strong student enrollments.

[ Development

¢ Student fees comprised 65.8% of total revenue for the 2001 year.

# Our quarterly revenue is seasonal, based on the academic school year.
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year compared to 2000.

58,000 in the fall 2001 academic term.
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*before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

+ Strong improvement in our earnings per share reflect the operating
leverage of our business model and prudent expense control.

+ Students enrolled in eCourses increased 101% in the 2001

# Students enrolled in distance courses increased to more than



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For fiscal year ended December 31, 2001
OR

[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from 10

Commission file number 000-28393

eCollege.com
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 84-1351729
State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization Identification No.)
10200 A East Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (303) 873-7400

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None.

Securities to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock
(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90

days. Yes [] No

Indicated by a check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (Section
229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge,
in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K.

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the
registrant as of March 8, 2002 was approximately $37,398,478.

As of March 8, 2002 16,329,671 shares of our common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
[None]




ITEM I:
ITEM 2:
ITEM 3:
ITEM 4:

ITEM 5:
ITEM 6:
ITEM 7:

ITEM 7A:
ITEM 8:
ITEM 9:

ITEM 10:
ITEM 11:
ITEM 12:
ITEM 13:

ITEM 14:
Signatures

FORM 10-K
For the Year Ended December 31, 2001
TABLE OF CONTENTS

BUSINESS ..ttt ettt sttt st et et s e be s ta et re e saan e e s e Rt e b e e e et e eaeesenres
PIOPETLIES ..ottt ettt s sttt e s st s s sr et ns e enes
Legal ProCeedings.....c.ccovciirimiiiiiiieni i st s e s
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security HOIAEIS .......ccovvviviicieniinienie e rienenin e

PART II

Market For Company’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.........cccccooenuenne
Selected Financial Data.......cccooovverrirriieieiie et ettt sr e et
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
OIPETALIONIS .....vvevvreesreeieetebesee st et et eeteatasarsasbeessasesreseeaseseeseeohe s et s aenseabesee s sbbennaseane ot assnsnsseenansenrbeas
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk ..........ccccoceevinninncnnnnnee
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data..........cccocoiviviinveniininireninie s
Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
DIHSCIOSUTES ...ttt ettt et et e st be st et e s st s ae e cm e et re s s et et e e bt abesbnasenseaesnesreas

PART II1

Executive Officers and Directors of the Company ........cccoovvverve s
EXecutive COMPENSAtION .....oouiriieiiieiirieiteeete ettt sesre sttt e e st ae sttt sreebesatbesbasaens
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management............cccooeevvcenrnennn.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ..........cccoviiiieicereerenreneenncnn i sicnnenees

PART IV



PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements based on our current expectations
about our Company and our industry. You can identify these forward-looking statements when you see us using
words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “‘estimate,” *‘plan,” “believe” and other similar expressions. These
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Qur actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of, among other things, the factors described in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Risk Factors and
elsewhere in this report, and in the Company’s other SEC filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly update
any forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available or other events occur
in the future.

LI INY] L2 Y]

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

The Company

eCollege.com (“‘eCollege” or the “Company”) is a leading provider of technology and services that enable
colleges, universities, primary schools and high schools (“K-12 schools’), and corporations to offer an online
environment for distance and on-campus learning. Our technology enables our customers to reach a large number
of students who wish to take online courses at convenient times and locations. Our customers can also use our
technology to supplement their on-campus courses with an online environment. Additionally, we offer services
to assist in the development of online programs, including online course and campus design, development,
management and hosting, as well as ongoing administration, faculty, instructor and student support.

Our objectives are to be the leading provider of asynchronous, instructor-led teaching technology used in
education, and for our services to be the highest standard in the industry. Our strategy to achieve these objectives
includes providing the leading eTeaching platform for teaching and learning in distance and on-campus
education; providing key front-office transactions between educators and their students; and providing additional
new self-service tools that allow customers to deploy our product without substantial involvement from our staff.
Our primary market is colleges and universities in the United States and Canada. Our secondary markets include
K-12 schools, corporations focused on continuing education and corporate training, and international customers.

Our Solution

Our products and services are designed to be flexible to meet the online learning needs of our primary
market. As an application service provider, we provide our customers access to our software products, consisting
of online campuses, courses, and course supplements, through hosting services in our reliable data center. We
also provide services complementing our software including design, development, management and hosting of
online campuses and courses, as well as ongoing administration, faculty and student support. Our suite of
products and services enables customers to either completely outsource the development of their online campus
and courses or to select individual products and services to meet their unique needs.

The eCollege online learning platform is designed to meet the teaching, campus community, administrative,
evaluation and hosting needs of our customers and incluces:

The eCollege SystemS™. The eCollege System, our services and software that create virtual campuses and
courses, includes our campus delivery system, eCollege Campus SolutionsS™, our course delivery and course
authoring system, eCollege Teaching Solutions™, our consulting, delivery and operational support services,
eCollege Service SolutionsSM and eCollege Content SolutionsSM.

eCollege Campus Solutions. The eCollege Campus Solutions, consisting of eCollege CampusPortalS™ and
eCollege Gateway CampusSM, offer community, academic and administrative functions similar to a physical
college campus. With our Campus Solutions, we can develop an online campus which replicates the key services
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of a physical campus, including admissions, registration, bookstore, library, academic advising, career
counseling, student union, bursar’s office and financial aid services. eCollege CampusPortal provides online
campus services, online courses and course supplements, and online community access, and includes a web-
based front-end to, and integration with, existing back-office systems for registrations, calendars, evaluations,
personal homepages, bookstore and library, administrative student services, fee collections, academic advising,
career counseling, financial aid, as well as departmental calendars, events, and college and university clubs and
associations. The eCollege Gateway Campus provides online campus services, online courses and course
supplements, and includes faculty and administrative services. Our customers can choose to add premium
features such as streaming audio and video, interactive course catalogs, online admissions forms, and online
registration to their eCollege Gateway Campus. Through our campus services offerings, customers receive
administrative and implementation services such as campus design and implementation and integration with our
customers’ student information systems. All of our online campuses are designed to be easy to use and to reflect
our customers’ distinctive character and unique preferences.

eCollege Teaching Solutions. Through eCollege Teaching Solutions, our software for instruction delivery,
we work with faculty to convert courses for online delivery and to provide online supplements for on-campus
courses. The eCollege Teaching Solutions are comprised of eCollege eCourseS™M and eCompanionSM. The
eCollege eCourse and eCompanion products are the systems used for the delivery and management of courses
over the Internet. eCollege eCourse includes applications necessary for course management, outlining
assignments, facilitating class discussions, conducting lectures, testing, grading and interacting with and among
students. eCollege eCompanion offers customers a choice of all of the functions of eCollege eCourse, and
provides professors and instructors with the tools necessary to create an interactive online component to
supplement traditional on-campus courses. Using eCollege Teaching Solutions, customers can create their own
courses without any programming or HTML experience.

During 2001 we expanded and improved our Teaching Solutions product line, including the release of the
next generation of our eLearning platform, eCollege AUSM. eCollege AU provides enhanced features with
increased customization capabilities, usability and accessibility for our customers.

eCollege Service Solutions. We offer a suite of services designed to assist our customers in creating and
delivering high quality online programs. eCollege Service Solutions include program consulting, delivery and
operational support services. Program consulting services such as system analysis, strategic planning, enrollment
marketing, technology implementation, and eCollege eCourseEvaluation®™ and eCollege eCampusSurvey are all
available to our customers. In addition, delivery of our platform in our highly reliable and scalable hosting
environment results in maximum uptime and performance for our customers. We provide our customers full-time
access to our hosted software in our data center environment, allowing customers to provide online learning
programs through a standard web browser, including our 24x7 help desk for faculty, students and administrators.
Operational support is available through our academic services offerings including: instructional design, course
development, multimedia resources and faculty training. As part of our academic services, we provide the
eTeaching InstituteSM, an online environment designed to educate faculty on the use of technology in the teaching
process, and to assist faculty in building online courses. Through our Service Solutions, we provide our
customers with a high level of individual support in creating and delivering their online programs.

eCollege eCourseEvaluation is a comprehensive Internet-based product that automates the entire course and
instructor evaluation process. This is analogous to the traditional paper-based process where students complete
“fill-in-the-bubble” forms at the end of their course. However, eCourseEvaluation provides institutions with a
more flexible, efficient, and timely feedback system compared to the paper-based process. eCollege
eCampusSurvey helps to create and manage all types of surveys that an institution may want to deploy (e.g.
instructors, facilities, sports, politics, etc.) outside of a classroom.

eCollege Content Solutions. We partner with leading textbook and new media publishers to provide
educators and students academically focused content resources. Incorporating material from our content partners
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enables educators to quickly create new courses or add engaging elements to existing courses, saving
considerable development time.

We believe that our service offering is a key competitive advantage and will be an important factor in
achieving market acceptance and maintaining long-term relationships with our customers. In addition, we offer
self-authoring tools that allow our customers to change and update their online campuses and courses. In the
alternative, we will implement changes and updates, as a service purchased by our customers, under hourly
billing relationships or fixed price contracts.

Customers

We first began delivering our products and services in 1996 to the University of Colorado. As of December
31, 2001, the Company has contracts with 249 customers. Our customers include: Boston University, University
of Colorado, Corinthian Colleges, Inc., University of Dallas, DeVry University, Inc., Eastern Michigan
University, [llinois Virtual High School, Kentucky Virtual High School, University of Massachusetts—Ambherst,
National University, New England College of Finance, Rutgers University, University of South Alabama, Strayer
University, and University of Wyoming. In addition, we have contracts with several providers of continuing
education and corporate training. Sales to National University represented approximately 10% of the Company’s
revenue for 2001.

Our objectives are to continue to expand our presence within our primary market and to further develop our
secondary markets. The key elements of our growth strategy are to:

Add Additional Colleges and Universities from our Primary Market. Using a focused regional approach,
we are actively targeting more than 800 colleges and universities, all of which have a significant existing distance
education program or show the potential to develop one. To generate qualified leads, we concentrate on selling
to this market through our regional directors within the Sales Department and through direct marketing to key
decision-makers, generally senior administrators, faculty and IT administrators. The regional directors will
communicate our value proposition through sales tools and presentation material that demonstrate our superior
technology and service offerings, the total cost of ownership for higher education institutions, and formulas for a
successful online program.

Increase Course Offerings and Enrollments with Existing Customers. In order to increase the course
offerings and student enrollments of our existing customers, we have assigned our account executives within the
Sales Department to be responsible for all aspects of account management for our largest potential distance
programs. Account executives are responsible for sales to existing customers by facilitating the addition of online
programs for new schools or departments within an existing customer, and by promoting and selling additional
online undergraduate and graduate degree programs and certificate programs to existing customers. Account
executives are located regionally, allowing them to share formulas for success and valuable customer usage
reports with existing customers on an on-going basis. This strategy will be further supported by our client service
representatives and various marketing initiatives focused on establishing enterprise-wide relationships with our
customers.

Increase On-Campus Adoptions to Solidify and Grow Distance Education Relationships. In order to
protect and further penetrate the distance education market, we feel it is important to develop a greater presence
in the lower-margin on-campus market for key customers. To accomplish this, we have begun offering our on-
campus product and service offerings at significantly reduced prices for customers who demonstrate a
commitment to building or maintaining a large distance education program. This pricing strategy is designed to
make our offerings attractive for both on-campus and distance education programs. It will also encourage further
familiarity of our Teaching Solutions software with faculty that may wish to teach online. We will also continue
to expand our product offerings, including .increasing the flexibility of how our products may be deployed. We
feel that this flexibility will be attractive to customers who choose to host portions of their eLearning solutions
locally.




Add Additional Customers in our Secondary Markets. We have sales representatives solely focused on
virtual high schools and K-12 school districts that have a desire to provide access to students through an online
environment. In addition, we are working with our college and university customers to deploy their corporate
training course content directly to corporations. We also have personnel responsible for developing business in
select international markets.

Sales And Marketing

Sales. 'We target prospective customers in our primary market in the United States and Canada. As of
March 8, 2002 we have a sales force of 27 individuals, most with a background in education and/or technology.
Our sales force is compensated with a combination of salary and commissions. We divide the United States and
Canada into two geographic areas, each managed by a regional vice president who is responsible for several
smaller geographic territories. These territories are covered by regional directors and account executives who are
located within the territories they serve.

Our regional directors focus exclusively on prospecting, selling and closing deals for large distance
programs within a clearly defined target account list for each geographic region. Account executives are
responsible for leveraging the satisfaction of our contacts within existing programs to encourage the addition of
online programs for new schools or departments within customers’ institutions. Account executives also promote
and sell additional products and service offerings to our customers’ existing programs.

We have recently discontinued our inside sales team within the Sales Department. Going forward, our
regional directors will have the responsibility to qualify leads and introduce eCollege to prospective customers.
We feel that this approach will allow the regional directors to establish strong relationships with key decision
makers of the potential customers at an earlier stage in the sales process.

Marketing. Historically, we have marketed our technology and services through a combination of print
and online media advertising, trade shows and direct marketing. Our website has been designed as one of our
primary marketing communications tools, incorporating a free trial of the eCollege System, information on
industry news and trends, and other important events in online learning. We have also advertised in industry
periodicals such as The Chronicle of Higher Education to address key decision-makers in our target market. We
also use advertising media to promote online learning and our customers’ programs to further increase online
student enrollments. We are currently focusing our marketing activities to include more direct marketing to
decision-makers in our target markets and continuing to strengthen our brand identity by participating in trade
shows, conferences and executive speaking engagements. Finally, we hold online learning symposiums to build
market awareness and identify qualified prospects.

Technology

Our technology strategy is to employ the best available software on stable and scalable platforms. All of
our software products contain our proprietary software, which we have created using a combination of our
custom software and widely-available software products we license from third parties. To create the custom
components of our software, we employ Microsoft’s most current and commonly used Internet programming
technologies, allowing applications to communicate and share data over the Internet. We rely on copyrights,
trademarks, trade secret laws, and employee and third-party non-disclosure agreements to protect our proprietary
software.

Because our current business depends on our ability to host web-based software applications for our
customers, one of our primary technical goals is to provide a highly reliable, fault tolerant system. To do so, we
have made substantial investments in systems monitoring, fault handling, technology redundancy and other
system uptime enhancements. For example, we continuously monitor our customers’ websites and our own core
systems. All of our primary servers contain fault-tolerant disk storage technology, backup network cards and
power supplies which eliminate the possibility of a single point of failure in our servers and reduce downtime.

6



Our database servers contain the latest clustering technology that uses a combination of scalable hardware and
Microsoft software technologies. Finally, we maintain sophisticated “firewall” technology to prevent access by
unauthorized users and to minimize known vulnerabilities to system security.

Our products are delivered to our customers from a network of centralized web servers. Our web servers
are located in three commercial data centers, commonly known as web “server farms,” which provide us with
scalable, high bandwidth Internet connections. Our primary facility is co-located at ViaWest Internet Services,
Inc. And our back-up facilities are located at eCollege’s headquarters. Having multiple data centers provides us
with the capability to survive a catastrophic failure of a data center. Our investment in our technology allowed
us to deliver 99.97% internal system availability to our customers during 2001. We also believe that our target
market is interested in highly reliable and scalable solutions for implementation of our software that can be
locally-hosted and we expect that certain aspects of our software will be installed in our customers’ data centers
in the future.

Competition

The online learning market is quickly evolving and is subject to rapid technological change. The market is
highly fragmented with no single competitor accounting for a dominant market share. We believe that the
principal competitive factors in our market include:

» the ability to provide high quality online learning, meeting the needs of colleges, universities, K-12
schools and corporations, as well as students;

+  adaptability, scalability and ability to integrate other technology-based products;
+  reliability, with up-time being the significant measure of performance;

+ the ability to offer a full complement of products, services, and hosting capabilities as a single-source
provider;

*  quality of implementation and support teams;
. pricing; and
*  company reputation.

Our competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the products and services they offer. Some
colleges and universities construct online learning systems utilizing in-house personnel and create their own
software or purchase software components from a vendor. Therefore, we face significant competition from a
variety of companies including software companies with specific products for the college and university market
and service companies who specialize in consulting, system integration and support in the eLearning industry.
Other competitors in this market include a wide range of education and training providers. These companies use
video, cable, correspondence, CD-ROM, computer-based training, and online training.

Seasonality

Due to seasonality inherent in the academic calendar, which typically consists of three academic terms, as
well as our customers’ plans for online campus and course development, we experience fluctuations in our
sequential quarterly results. We typically have lower student fee revenue in the summer academic term which
spans the second and third calendar quarters. Our operating expenses are relatively fixed in nature and seasonal
fluctuations in revenue will result in seasonal fluctuation in our operating results. As a result, sequential quarter-
to-quarter financial results are not directly comparable.

Trademarks And Proprietary Rights

We regard our copyrights, trademarks, servicemarks, trade dress, trade secrets and similar intellectual
property as critical to our success. The Company relies upon federal statutory and common law copyright and
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trademark law, trade secret protection and confidentiality and/or license agreements with its employees,
customers, partners and others to protect its proprietary rights. We have applied for registration in the United
States for certain of our servicemarks, including eCollegeSM, eCollege eCompanionS™, eCollege Teaching
SolutionsS™, eCourseEvaluations™, and eCollege Service SolutionsSM. We will continue to evaluate the
registration of additional servicemarks as appropriate.

Employees

As of March 8, 2002 we employed 223 people: 100 employees engaged in customer service, academic
services and implementation; 37 employees engaged in sales and marketing; 49 employees engaged in product
development; and 37 employees engaged in general administrative and management, including staff to maintain
our corporate network and business development. None of our employees are subject to any collective bargaining
agreements, and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Denver, Colorado. The headquarters facility encompasses
approximately 69,000 square feet and is leased under two separate leases which expire on June 30, 2002 and
April 30, 2003, respectively. In February 2002, we signed a Letter of Intent to lease approximately 47,000 square
feet of space at a new headquarters facility in Denver beginning in July 2002. This new facility will replace our
existing facilities as our current office leases expire. We believe our planned facilities are adequate for our current
requirements and that additional space can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms to meet future
requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is exposed to asserted and unasserted legal claims encountered in the normal course of
business. We believe that the ultimate resolution of any such matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the operating results or the financial position of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company did not submit any matters for a vote by the Company’s
stockholders.



PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

eCollege’s common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “ECLG” since
December 15, 1999. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of the Company’s common
stock for the periods indicated and are as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market.

_High ~ Low
Year ended December 31, 2000
ISE QUATTET cv.vevivisiietccr et ter et et te e e sttt ebes e b e e s st et eresns e et ens $12.88 $6.63
210 QUATTET veviviescrrresre e ete et eresr e ressear e ereereeb et easasaesseseasesssasraseaneans $ 7.19 $2.63
BIA QUATTET .ottt ettt ee et et etsa e vens b e sn et abe s erenis $ 8.25 $3.75
At QUATTET ...ttt et r s s se s e seeee s eae st aaeon $ 8.06 $2.81
Year ended December 31, 2001
ISt QUATTET ..ottt ee ettt et e b b s b s s b b sns $ 722 $1.88
2000 QUALET +vvrrveee oo eerees s eess oo eeesesesesere e e $339  $2.00
BEA QUATTET ..ottt eee ettt et en e e enene $ 4.85 $2.98
At QUATTET ..ot ettt ettt ea et et es et s e an s s e $ 4.01 $2.00

The closing price on March 8, 2002 was $2.90.
As of March 8, 2002, there were approximately 126 stockholders of record of our common stock.

The Company has never paid cash dividends on its stock, and is currently precluded from doing so under
its borrowing agreements. The Company currently intends to retain all future earning for use in the operation of
its business. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock in the
foreseeable future. The payment of any future dividends will depend upon, among other things, the terms of its
borrowing agreements, future earnings, operations, capital requirements, the general ﬁnanmal condition of the
Company, contractual restrictions and general business conditions.

Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds

On December 15, 1999, the Company consummated its initial public offering of its common stock. The
registration statement relating to the offering (File No. 333-78365) was declared effective on December 14, 1999.
The Company registered and sold a total, including the underwriter’s overallotment in January 2000, of
5,500,000 shares with an aggregate registered price of $60,500,000. At the time of the initial public offering,
4,150,402 shares of the Company’s Series A, B, and C preferred stock were converted to 4,150,402 shares of
common stock. '

The net offering proceeds to the Company were $56,265,000, of which $5,115,000 related to the exercise of
500,000 shares of the underwriters’ over-allotment option on January 13, 2000. As of December 31, 2001, we
have used approximately: $2,050,000 to repay bank debt; $35,683,000 to fund operations and provide working
capital; and $5,940,000 to purchase computer equipment, software, furniture and fixtures. None of the net
proceeds of the offering were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors, officers, general partners or their
associates, or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities. We expect to use the remainder
of the proceeds for working capital and general corporate purposes. ‘




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our summary financial data. You should read this information together with
the Financial Statements and the Notes to those statements beginning on page 47 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K and the information under “Selected Financial Data” and ‘“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Please see Note 3 in the Notes to Financial Statements for
further discussion of the change in accounting principle implemented by the Company effective January 1, 2000.

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:
SHUAEIL FEES....eoiiviieeiiteeeeeieteeicre e csreesrer et e s srsse s serssesbere et tasesaneas $ 13054 $ 7037 $ 2300 $ 579 $ 400
Campus and course development fees.........coocvvvnvivecrcnncnccnneene 4,417 4,325 1,950 1,086 628
OHNET ...viereeeeeriecs e tean e s aesessereassrsstsseseresesaesanssneneasesessessssesns 2,376 1,177 401 — —
TOLAl TEVENUE ....cevovveveieceretienteeee s enee e sneesesseresteereeseesesiesssesasanes 19,847 12,539 4,651 1,665 1,028
COSt OF TEVENUE........eeeveeireeieeietirtcsrerteee e et e eeessessareeseessessesnsessersessesanes 13,840 12,650 10,381 2,065 528
Gross Profit (1085} e e 6,007 (111) (5,730) (400) 500
Operating expenses:
Product development ..........c.covvermecrmiicrncmrrecrens e ecrecnrmeeseessesnnes 4,810 7,133 2,256 1,099 212
Selling and marketing........ 7,147 10,587 7,243 3,394 106
General and administrative 6,718 9,435 5,930 2,509 768
Other general and adminiStrative ... — 2,570 — — —
Total Operating Xpenses .........ccccvcvvcrnecriinneneinnncinesenseanns 18,675 29,725 15,429 7,002 1,086
Net 10SS fTOM OPETALIONS c...covivererierseaereiiseieinieie s ieriecsncarseenss s ssessssssresseas (12,668) (29,836) (21,159) (7,402) (586)
Other income (EXPENSE), NEL ....coviviiiriciiiiiriic e 331 2,154 351 112 (29)
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.......... (12,337) (27,682) (20,808) (7,290} (615)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.........coooniiiiinrnicnncae — (1,205) — — —
Net loss from continuing OPEratioNs .......cecerverserrsecreremmersrersmeesrsssmseereees $ (12,337) $ (28,887) $(20,808) $ (7,290) $ (615)
Net loss from continuing operations applicable to common stockholders... $ (12,337) $ (28,887) $ (23,225) $ (7,993) $ (674)
Basic and diluted net loss from continuing operations per common share
before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .......covvcee $ 0.76) $ (176) $§ 4.12) $ (1.58) § (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.........ccocevvreiieinnns — 07 — — —
Basic and diluted net loss from continuing operations per common
SRATE (..o errrercenereecamraeerearereneraesesassesestvaeseserese sresesesseseneasesesansosasersesaresassatens $ 0.76) $ (183) $ 412) $ (158 $ (016
Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic and diluted .............. 16,219,174 15,743,351 5,639,563 5,074,697 4,107,964

Note on Discontinued Operations:

On March 24, 1997, the Board of Directors approved the disposition

of ColoradoNet, an Internet Service Provider acquired in 1996, as the Company determined that such business
did not complement its primary business focus of Internet education. Pursuant to an Asret Purchase Agreement
dated May 30, 1997, the Company sold substantially all of the net assets of ColoradoNet to a third party for
$200,000 in cash. The gain on the sale of this discontinued operation was $34,632. Total revenue for
ColoradoNet was $137,055 in 1997.

Note on Change in Accounting Principle: Effective January 1, 2000, the Company adopted the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”), “‘Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements,” which provides guidance on revenue recognition for public companies. As a result, the
Company reviewed the terms of its current contracts and determined that the provisions of SAB 101 materially
impact the Company’s revenue recognition for our campus and course development revenue, effectively deferring
the recognition of such revenue. Under SAB 101, campus development fees are recognized from the campus
launch date through the end of the contract period or the expected life of the customer relationship, whichever is
greater. The average recognition period is slightly less than three years. Annual fees for campus licenses, hosting

10



and maintenance services are recognized on a straight-line basis over 12 months. Course development fees are
recognized on a straight-line basis, generally over 12 months from the date the course is ordered by the customer,
which approximates the period over which our services are provided. The 12-month period may change in the
future based upon our experience of providing such services. The Company is in the process of re-evaluating
this period, and expects that it may decrease in the future. Changes in our contract terms and expected contract
life may also effect the period over which development fees are recognized.

The Company has accounted for the implementation of the guidelines of SAB 101 as a change in accounting
principle effective January 1, 2000, and therefore has not restated the 1999 or prior years’ financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2000, the Company recorded a cumulative adjustment of $1,205,038 or $.07 per share, basic
and diluted, for the change in accounting principle. The impact in 2000 of adopting SAB 101 was to increase net
loss, before the cumulative effect of accounting change, by $1,120,296. Excluding the impact of the change, basic
and diluted net loss per share for 2000, before the cumulative effect of accounting change, would have been
$1.69.

The following table is'a summary of our balance sheet data:

December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments................. $16,626 $28,415 $46,308 $11,661 $ 208
Working capital .........cooviioiiiiiiec e 8,677 17,648 39,531 9,577 58
TOLAL ASSELS 1vvivveveerieiceetieeeeee e ettt e et e e et ev e v sesaesresseetesrns 27,240 447748 53,767 13,660 748
Long-term capital lease obligations and notes payable............ 946 1,389 — — 231
Total LHabILItIES......ceiieiiie ettt e 12,242 18,461 9,755 2,549 621
Convertible A, B, & C Series Preferred......coovvvevvivirieiiininnnn. — — — 19,650 1,029
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) .....ovveriierinereiniiieecenesenenne 14,998 26,287 44,012  (8,539) (902)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the “Selected Financial Data”
and our Financial Statements and Notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

eCollege is a leading provider of technology and services that enable colleges, universities, K-12 schools,
and corporations to offer an online environment for distance and on-campus learning. Our technology enables
our customers to reach a large number of students who wish to take online courses at convenient times and
locations. Our customers can also use our technology to supplement their on-campus courses with an online
learning environment. Additionally, we offer services to assist in the development of online programs, including
online course and campus design, development, management and hosting, as well as ongoing administration,
faculty, instructor and student support, and evaluation and consulting services.

We were founded and began delivering our products and services in 1996. As of December 31, 2001, we
have 249 customer contracts covering approximately 1,500 individual campuses. Since our inception our
customers have had approximately 298,000 student enrollments in online courses or course supplements and have
purchased or ordered more than 14,800 online courses and course supplements, of which approximately 4,100
included course development services. We have invested, and continue to invest, in our service capabilities by
expanding our infrastructure. Our expenditures have exceeded our revenues since our inception and our
accumulated losses have increased as a result of our growth strategy.
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For the Spring, Summer and Fall 2001 academic terms, our customers had approximately 59,000, 30,000
and 58,000 student enroliments in online courses, respectively. Our customers also had approximately 6,000,
1,000 and 38,000 student enrollments in our lower priced course supplements during these respective academic
terms. The number of customers for which we provide development, licensing and hosting services of their
virtual campuses increased by approximately 15% during 2001. However, the number of orders for new online
courses to be developed by our professionals decreased by approximately 54% in 2001. As we look at these
important trends in our business, we expect to see continued growth in revenue in 2002, but at a slower rate than
the growth we experienced in 2001 as a result of the following factors:

*  We expect our customers’ student enrollments for the Spring 2002 term to be significantly greater than
in the Fall 2001 term. We have historically seen an increase in Fall enrollments over Spring, although
due to issues associated with the terrorist attacks in September 2001 and other factors we did not
experience that traditional growth pattern in 2001. We are uncertain if 2002 will return to our historical
trend, however we do believe our customers’ student enrollments will grow substantially in the long
term;

*  We expect strong overall growth in our customers’ student enrollments in 2002. However, our pricing
provides discounts to our customers as their programs grow. Therefore, while we expect our student
fee revenue to show a strong increase, the increase will likely not be directly proportional to the
anticipated increases in student enrollments;

*  We expect to see our course development revenue decrease as more customers elect to self-develop
courses. While we are planning to introduce new course development services, we do not expect these
to have a significant impact until 2003; and

*  Our grant from the National Institute of Standards and Technology, or NIST, concludes in April 2002,
This will negatively impact our revenue, but will improve our gross margins, as we were only
reimbursed for approximately 85% of our costs of research and development under the grant.

Any increases in our cost of revenue should be significantly less than our increases in revenue. We expect
to see gross margins improve as student fees increase and we utilize existing capacity in our data center. We
expect our operating expenses to decrease as a percentage of revenue in the future, as we utilize our current
resources to support anticipated revenue growth.

Revenue
Since inception, we have primarily generated revenue from three sources:
. enrollment fees for students enrolled in online courses;
*  design and development, licensing and hosting services fees for online campuses; and

* design and development services fees to build online courses.
Our other revenue sources have primarily been professional consulting and research grant activities.

We enter into contracts with our customers to provide our omnline learning products and services. Our
contracts typically have one to five year initial terms. Each contract specifies the type and price of the online
campus purchased and the number and price of online courses purchased, as well as the fees for student
enrollments and any other services purchased.

Our business model is based upon a number of factors, including increasing the acceptance of online
learning among colleges, universities, K-12 schools and corporations, adding new customers, adding new schools
and programs within existing customers, developing additional courses for our existing customers, increasing
student enrollment in online courses, and selling new products and services to our clients. From our inception
through December 31, 1998, the majority of our revenue was generated by development and design services fees
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for building campuses and courses, and, to a lesser extent, student fees. Campus and course development revenue
continued to grow in 1999, 2000 and 2001, however student fees have become a larger percentage of total
revenue as the number of online courses offered by our customers and the number of students enrolled in those
courses continue to increase at an even greater pace. We expect this trend in our revenue mix to continue. As our
pricing and product mix change, and as our customers’ online programs grow and mature, we anticipate that
student enrollments will increase, with resuiting increases in student fee revenue. However, due to volume
discounts that we offer and competitive pricing in our industry, the increases in student fee revenue will likely
not be directly proportional to the anticipated increases in student enrollments.

We continue to improve our core online products: Teaching Solutions and Campus Solutions. Teaching
Solutions includes eCourse, an online version of a traditional classroom course delivered to students who might
not otherwise have access, and eCompanion, an online teaching supplement to enhance classroom-based courses.
Campus Solutions complements most aspects of an institution’s physical presence with an online dimension,
incorporating the customer’s unique look and feel into our campus portals. These online campuses allow a
customer to access and manage online courses, and provide access to the online community and organizations.
We also generate a smaller portion of our total revenue from additional sources under our Service Solutions,
Content Solutions and Evaluation and Survey products. These additional sources include:

*  Technical consulting, instructional design and faculty training and support services;

»  eCourseEvaluation, a fully hosted application that supports evaluation administration, reporting and
dissemination processes in a secure environment; and

»  eCampusSurvey, for large-scale institutional research surveys.

In October 2001, we announced that our CampusPortal product completed a successful six-month beta trial.
CampusPortal, the most comprehensive of our Campus Solutions tools, enables an institution to complement and
connect most aspects of the physical campus online, including academic, administrative, social, and personal
resources. We expect this product to supplement our other Campus Solutions products and therefore provide an
alternative for customers seeking a larger-scale solution.

In late 2000, we released a new version of our course delivery software that includes more robust self-
authoring tools, designed to allow customers to easily develop their own online courses without needing HTML
or other programming knowledge. In 2001, we released a new version of our campus software that allows
campus administrators to make certain changes to their virtual campuses without our assistance. Accordingly,
we began offering new services for fees, including the complete design and development of an online course.
This service includes complete design and development of the online course by eCollege, subject to our
customer’s approval, and is differentiated from our standard course development services where our customers
lead the course design and development efforts, and we support their efforts. We are also offering course audit
services, a comprehensive review and analysis of online courses, along with recommended modifications and
improvements.

With the ease of use features and improved self-authoring functionality of these products, we have seen and
may continue to see customers update their own online campuses and self-design and develop online courses,
resulting in lower development revenue from our campus and course development services. However, we expect
our customers to continue to add additional courses, which are either self-authored or developed by us, and for
students to enroll in these additional courses (which are hosted by us), thereby increasing our student fee revenue.

In 2001, we began offering a new campus pricing model for access to our campus software for new
customers exclusively offering distance education and for existing customers as their contracts come up for
renewal. Under this program, we generally charge: 1) a one time set-up and design fee to implement an online
campus, 2) an annual license fee for access to our software, and 3) an annual hosting fee. We also charge an
annual maintenance fee to manage the online campus during the term of the agreement. We also began offering
a new pricing model for our eCompanion product under which we charge an annual license fee. Historically, we

13




have charged a per-enrollment student fee for such services. We feel that this new pricing model will create
additional market opportunities, however we do not expect a significant change in the amount of revenue we
generate from this product. Generally, revenue from these fees is recognized ratably over the related period.

In October 1998, the Company was awarded a grant of approximately $1,859,000 by NIST, a department of
the U.S. Department of Commerce. The Company is entitled to receive payments under the grant as research
related to automated course content creation and organization, and tutoring delivery systems is performed.
Maximum payments under the grant, which expired in January, 2002, are $1,859,000. Pursuant to the terms of
the NIST grant, work must be performed at a prescribed format and pace. We were granted an extension until
April 2002 to complete the necessary documentation of our research. We believe we will be able to perform
under the terms of the NIST grant, however, there is no assurance we will continue to receive payments under
the NIST grant or that we will receive the maximum payments under the NIST grant. This revenue is recognized
as the work is performed by the Company or its subcontractors. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, the Company recognized revenue of $808,907, $500,762 and $348,962, respectively. The Company
recorded direct expenses associated with the grant within Cost of Revenue of $886,054, $521,254 and $422,481
for these same periods. We do not expect that revenue from such grants will constitute a significant portion of
our revenue in the future, nor will we continue to incur costs associated with the current grant after April 2002.
We may apply for other grants in the future, although we have no present plans to do so.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue recognition is a critical accounting policy for our business. As stated in Note 3 in the Notes to
Financial Statements, we adopted the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101
(““SAB 101™), “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,”” which provides guidance on revenue recognition
for public companies, effective January 1, 2000. As a result, the Company reviewed the terms of its current
contracts and determined that the provisions of SAB 101 materially impact the Company’s revenue recognition
for our campus and course development revenue, effectively deferring the recognition of such revenue. Under
SAB 101, campus set-up, design and development fees are recognized from the campus launch date through the
end of the contract period or the expected life of the customer relationship, whichever is greater. The average
recognition period is slightly less than three years. Annual fees for campus licenses, hosting and maintenance
services are recognized on a straight-line basis over 12 months. Course development fees are recognized on a
straight-line basis over 12 months from the date the course is ordered by the customer, which approximates the
period over which our services are provided. The 12-month period may change in the future based upon changes
in our experience of providing such services. We are in the process of re-evaluating this period, and expect that
the recognition period may decrease in the future, resulting in revenue being recognized over a shorter period of
time. Changes in our contract terms and expected contract life may also affect the period over which development
fees are recognized.

Student fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over each course’s specific academic term or over the
length of the student technology license purchased by the customer, depending upon contract terms. All other
revenue sources are recognized over the length of the service period (e.g., annual maintenance fees) or are
recognized over the period of the performance of the service (e.g., consulting).

We accounted for the implementation of the revenue recognition guidelines of SAB 101 as a change in
accounting principle effective January 1, 2000, and therefore have not restated the 1999 or prior years’ financial
statements. Modifications to generally accepted accounting principles for revenue recognition could result in
unanticipated changes in our revenue recognition policies and such changes could significantly affect the timing
of recognition of future revenue and results of operations.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of employee compensation and benefits for account management,
online campus development, course design, technical personnel, help desk, and sales commissions. Our cost of
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revenue also includes personnel expense, software and hardware costs, and other direct costs associated with
maintaining our data center operations, our web servers and our network infrastructure. Non-marketing related
costs of our Grant Program, as discussed below, are also included in cost of revenue. We also allocate a portion
of our occupancy and infrastructure costs to cost of revenue.

For the year 2001, sales commissions were recorded as revenue was recognized, but were paid only after
we had received an initial payment from the customer. Sales representatives also began receiving additional
commissions for achieving significant goals such as signing large customers and increasing program offerings
within current customers. Historically, we have recorded and paid sales commissions as contracts were signed
and as revenue was recognized.

On April 1, 2000 we started to capitalize software development costs related to our CampusPortal product
as required by AICPA’s Statement of Position (““SOP”’) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” As of March 31, 2001, we had capitalized $3,763,507 of costs related
to development of this product. In April 2001 the CampusPortal software was determined to be ready for its
intended use and we began amortizing the total cost over its expected useful life of three years. Accordingly,
$940,877 of amortization expense has been recorded as of December 31, 2001 and is included in cost of revenue.

Realization of the capitalized software development costs is dependent upon generating revenue from the
related software products and services during the useful life of such capitalized software. It is reasonably possible
that a review of the recorded amount of capitalized software development costs in the future could indicate that
they are impaired, and the amount of impairment could be significant. Additionally, the technology we use to
support our customers can be subject to significant changes as new technology and software products are
introduced into the marketplace by others. Because of the volatility of the technological environment, it is
reasonably possible that a change in our technology strategy could result in a conclusion that all or a portion of
the recorded balance is impaired.

We expect that our cost of revenue will continue to decline in the future as a percent of revenue. We
anticipate experiencing this decline as we achieve operating efficiencies, since many of these costs do not
increase in direct proportion to our revenue, and as our revenue mix changes to be more heavily weighted
towards student and license fees which have a lower cost than revenue derived from our other service offerings.

Grant Program

‘We implemented a Grant Program in late 1999 designed to assist new and existing customers by increasing
the quality and number of online courses they offer and the number of students pursuing online degrees. Seventy-
two grants were awarded, at our discretion, to institutions based on demonstrated commitment to a quality online
degree program, the number of current and potential students, the college or university’s unique approach to
online learning and other factors. We do not anticipate offering new grant awards.

Funds granted consist of both marketing funds and educational support funds. Marketing funds are
reimbursed to customers based on demonstration of payment for approved marketing activities. These expenses
are recorded as marketing expenses when it is estimated they are incurred by our customers to third parties.
Educational support funds consist of faculty stipends and technology and travel funds, and are considered
contract costs. To date, we have granted approximately $7.5 million, which consists of $1.7 million in marketing
funds and $5.8 million in educational support funds. Pursuant to the terms of the grants, funds are paid to the
grant recipients after they have provided evidence of payment for appropriate expenditures. Customer
expenditures for our services are not considered reimbursable under terms of the grants. Reimbursements for
marketing expenditures totaled $802,199 and $140,436 during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, disbursements under the Grant Program of
$2,675,306 and $889,299 were made primarily for faculty stipends to encourage the generation of digital course
content and hardware technology purchases. The estimated remaining disbursements under the Grant Program
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for reimbursed marketing and educational support funds are $800,000 and $2.2 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2001 and are expected to be paid during 2002.

If contract costs, including appropriate educational support funds, are in excess of the revenue guaranteed
under the related agreement, such excess is expensed in the quarter in which the excess is first identified. For the
year ending December 31, 1999, the Company recognized such a loss of $2,438,055. As we recognize course
development revenue under these contracts, the grant loss accrual is reduced such that the gross margin related
to this revenue is zero. This reduction is reflected in cost of revenue and was $1,207,570 and $954,386 for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remaining estimated grant loss accrual at December
31, 2001 is $275,599 and is included in Grant Liabilities on the balance sheet. The determination of the grant
loss requires management to make estimates and assumptions regarding the total amount of costs to be incurred.
These estimates and assumptions may change and affect the reported amounts of the contingent liability on the
date of the financial statements and the reported amount of expenses during the reporting period. As contracts
are completed, actual results could impact reported amount of expense in the current reporting period. We
recorded $1,586,870, $1,461,978 and $2,438,055 of expenses related to educational support, before any reduction
of the grant loss accrual, in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Gross Margin

As our product mix continues to change and diversify, we expect that the mix of our cost of revenue will
change accordingly. Our investments in our infrastructure and personnel should be able to support future growth
and with increased utilization, we have been able to achieve cost of revenue that is lower than our revenue. Since
we expect our revenue to increase in the future while our cost of revenue decreases due to operating efficiencies
and the expiration of Grant Program expense, we expect continued improvement in our gross margin.

Product Development

Product development includes costs of maintaining, developing and improving our software products. These
costs consist primarily of employee compensation and benefits, consulting fees, occupancy and depreciation
expenses. We expect our development costs to remain at approximately the same level as in 2001 as we continue
to develop new products to respond to competitive pressures and the needs of our customers.

Selling And Marketing

The principal components of our selling and marketing expenses are employee compensation and benefits,
advertising, industry conferences, and travel. Other significant components include marketing collaterals and
direct mailings, consulting fees, occupancy and depreciation expenses.

Our Grant Program includes reimbursement of approved third party expenditures to our customers for
marketing their online degree programs. These funds are recorded as marketing expense as we estimate that our
customers incur them and we incur the obligation to reimburse them. We recorded $321,000 and $1,253,725 of
marketing expenses associated with the Grant Program in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We expect a slight decrease in total selling and marketing expenses in 2002 as we implement more focused
and cost-effective selling techniques.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses include accounting and finance; legal services; business
development; corporate facilities; executive; and internal technical network administration and support.
Employee compensation and benefits represent the most significant component of general and administrative
expense. Other components include rent, depreciation, communications, professional and consulting fees, and
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stock-based compensation. We expect that our general and administrative expenses will not change significantly
in absolute dollars in the year 2002,

Results Of Continuing Operations

We have incurred significant losses since our inception, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $73,485,398
as of December 31, 2001. We believe that our revenue growth will continue in the year 2002 primarily based
upon growth in student fees. At the same time we intend to continue to make investments in technology which
may involve the development, acquisition or licensing of technologies that complement or augment our existing
services and technologies. Our selling and marketing expense should decrease slightly as a result of our focused
strategy in 2002. We also intend to utilize our existing administrative resources and operating efficiencies to
continue to support our business at slightly lower costs. Our operating loss decreased significantly during 2001
and we expect this trend to continue. We expect our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
of capitalized software costs and stock-based compensation to be slightly positive for the year 2002 and plan to
realize operating profits in 2003, although there can be no guarantee thereof.

Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

Revenue. Revenue increased 58% to $19,846,527 for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $12,539,470
for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase in revenue is primarily due to an increase in the number of
student enrollments in online courses. Student enrollments in eCourses increased 101% to approximately 147,000
from approximately 73,000 in the prior year. Student enrollments in our lower priced eCompanion course
supplements increased to approximately 45,000 from approximately 1,000 in the prior year. Student fees
represented $13,054,307 and $7,037,442 of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Campus and course development fees represented $4,416,453 and $4,325,430 of total revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. We recognized revenue from developing, licensing and hosting
virtual campuses for 173 different customers during 2001, up from the 150 customers that had virtual campuses
in 2000. There were 2,581 new eCourses developed on our platform in 2001, 692 of which were developed by
our professionals. This compares to 3,032 and 1,496, respectively in 2000. With the ease of use features and
improved self-authoring functionality of our products, we have seen and may continue to see customers update
their own online campuses and self-design and develop online courses, resulting in lower development revenue
from our campus and course development services.

Other revenue includes professional consulting revenue of $824,818 and $483,394, and revenue from the
NIST grant of $808,907 and $500,761, for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue increased to $13,839,799 for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$12,650,533 for the year ended December 31, 2000. Our cost of revenue increased primarily due to the
amortization of $940,877 of software development costs related to our CampusPortal product previously
capitalized and additional depreciation and occupancy costs related to cost of revenue of $880,640. We also had
an increase in information technology expenses associated with hosting our customers” programs. The amount of
expenses related to our Grant Program included in cost of revenue also increased by $124,892 to $1,586,870
from $1,461,978 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

These increases were somewhat offset by decreases in personnel costs, as we were able to support our
revenue growth through increased operating efficiencies. Our operations and account management personnel
decreased to an average of 131 in 2001 from 157 during 2000, with most of the reductions coming in March
2001. Total cost of revenue was approximately 70% and 101% of total revenue for the years. ended December
31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Gross Margin. 'We experienced a positive gross margin of $6,006,728, or 30% of revenue, for the year
ended December 31, 2001 as compared to a negative gross margin of $111,063 for the year ended December 31,
2000. The favorable increase of $6,117,791 in gross margin was primarily due to the 85% increase in our student
fees resulting from our increased student enrollments, which have a higher contribution margin than our other
revenue sources, as well as improved utilization of our professional services staff and realization of operating
leverage on our fixed expenses as our revenue increased.

Product Development. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we expanded and improved our
Teaching Solutions product line, including the release of the next generation of our eLearning platform, eCollege
AU. The new platform provides enhanced features with increased customization capabilities, usability and
accessibility for our customers. Additionally, due to the significant investments we made in 2000 to improve our
efficiency in developing online campuses and courses, we were able to reduce our overall product development
costs in 2001. Product development expenses decreased $2,323,921 to $4,809,576 for the year ended December
31, 2001 from $7,133,497 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease was primarily due to our
decreased use of external consulting for product development during 2001. Staffing levels of our product
development personnel remained consistent with the prior year, averaging 52 in 2001 and 53 in 2000. We also
capitalized $622,395 of internal-use software development costs related to our CampusPortal product during the
year ended December 31, 2001, compared to the $3,141,112 capitalized during the year ended December 31,
2000. Therefore, we had a total of $5,431,971 and $10,274,609 in product development expenditures during 2001
and 2000, respectively.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses decreased to $7,147,317 for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $10,586,595 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease was primarily due to
decreases in advertising and marketing personnel salaries and benefits expense, as we averaged 16 and 24
marketing related employees during 2001 and 2000, respectively. Marketing costs associated with our Grant
Program were $932,725 less than in the same period last year. External advertising expenses also decreased
$903,186 during the year ended December 31, 2001, as we focused our marketing strategy on more efficient
methods. The decrease in selling and marketing expenses also reflects decreases in amounts spent on marketing
collaterals, trade show participation and other promotional activities. Our sales personnel decreased slightly to
an average of 35 employees in 2001 from 39 in 2000.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased to $6,717,781 for the year
ended December 31, 2001 from $9,434,181 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease was due in
large part to a decrease in amortization of deferred compensation due to employee terminations, as well as
decreases in executive compensation and severance, consulting services and other cost savings due to improved
efficiencies in our administrative departments. Our executive and administrative personnel decreased to an
average of 44 in 2001 from 54 during 2000, including the termination of our President and Chief Operating
Officer.

Through December 31, 2001, we recorded aggregate deferred compensation totaling $4,444,202 in
connection with the grant of stock options and restricted common stock to employees, officers, directors and
former executives. The deferred charge is being amortized over the vesting period of such options or restricted
stock, which ranges from 1 to 3 years. Of the total deferred compensation, $704,363 was amortized in the year
ended December 31, 2001, while $1,191,142 was amortized in the year ended December 31, 2000. The majority
of compensation expense related to such options is included in general and administrative expense. However, a
portion of such compensation expense has been allocated to cost of revenue, selling and marketing expense and
product development expense as appropriate. We expect the majority of the remaining $223,937 of deferred
compensation recorded as of December 31, 2001 to be amortized during 2002.

Other General and Administrative Expense. Additional non-cash general and administrative expenses of
$2,570,408 reflect the fair market value of fully vested options issued during the third quarter of 2000 to a non-
employee investment partnership in exchange for the services of our Chief Executive Officer in lieu of salary,
benefits and other compensation. This expense was not incurred during the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Other Income (Expense). Interest and other income, which consists primarily of interest earnings on our
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, decreased to $752,743 for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $2,472,600 for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease is primarily due to a decrease in
cash invested as a result of the use of such cash in our operations. Interest expense decreased slightly during
2001 compared to 2000. Other expense of $151,463 is primarily due to the net realized losses on sales of our
short-term investments during the year ended December 31, 2001. As a result of a change in our investment
policy during the third quarter of 2001 to limit risk exposure, all of our invested cash is in money market
accounts as of December 31, 2001, therefore we do not anticipate incurring such losses in the future.

Net loss. Our net loss before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle decreased to
$12,336,598, or $0.76 per share, from $27,681,984, or $1.76 per share, for the year ended December 31, 2001,
as compared with the year ended December 31, 2000. Effective January 1, 2000, the Company recorded a
$1,205,038 one-time cumulative adjustment in connection with the adoption of SAB 101. Therefore, our net loss
decreased to $12,336,598, or $0.76 per share, from $28,887,022, or $1.83 per share, for the years ended
December 31, 2001, as compared with the year ended December 31, 2000.

Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999

Revenue. As previously discussed, in response to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101 issued in December 1999, we have changed our revenue recognition of campus and
course development fees. As a result, total revenue increased to $12,539,470 for the year ended December 31,
2000 from $4,650,818 in 1999, or 170%. If this accounting change had not been implemented January 1, 2000,
the revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000 would have been $14,169,714 under the percent complete
method, which is the same method used to recognize revenue in 1999. Therefore, on a comparable basis, 2000
revenue would have increased $9,518,896 or 205% versus 1999. Increases in revenue are due to increased student
enrollment in online courses, as well as an increased number of online campuses and courses developed.

Student fees represented $7,037,442 and $2,300,111 of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2000
and 1999, respectively. Campus and course development fees and other revenue represented $5,502,028 and
$2,350,707 of total revenue, respectively, for these same periods. If the accounting change had not been
implemented January 1, 2000, the campus and course development and other revenue for 2000 would have been
$7,132,272 under the percent complete method. Revenue from the NIST grant was $500,762 and $348,962 for
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively and is included in other revenue.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue increased to $12,650,533 for the year ended December 31, 2000 from
$10,381,390 in 1999, or 22%. As previously discussed, we have changed our revenue recognition of campus and
course development fees in accordance with SAB 101. As a result, the amount of expenses related to our Grant
Program included in cost of revenue decreased by $509,947. If the change in accounting principle had not been
implemented as of January 1, 2000, the total cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000 would have
been $13,160,480 under the percent complete method. Therefore, on a comparable basis, 2000 cost of revenue
would have increased $2,779,090 or 27% over 1999.

Cost of revenue increased primarily due to additional personnel costs to support revenue growth. Our
operations and account management personnel increased from an average of 107 in 1999 to 157 during 2000.
Costs associated with expanding and improving our web servers, database architecture, and network
infrastructure increased by $1,514,513 over 1999. Depreciation and occupancy costs related to cost of revenue
increased by $657,405. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $976,077 in the amount of grant
expense and a $644,988 decrease in sales commissions. Total cost of revenue was approximately 100% and 223%
of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Gross Margin. We experienced a negative gross margin of $111,063 for the year ended December 31, 2000
as compared to a negative gross margin of $5,730,572 in 1999 for a 98% improvement. Qur gross margin would
have been a positive $1,009,234, or 7% of total revenue, had the accounting change for SAB 101 not been
implemented January 1, 2000. :
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Excluding the expense of our Grant Program, we would have recognized a positive gross margin of
$1,350,915 for the year ended December 31, 2000 compared to a negative gross margin of $3,292,517 for the
year ended December 31, 1999. Our gross margin for 2000 would have been a positive $2,829,506, excluding
the Grant Program and had the accounting change for SAB 101 not been implemented January 1, 2000. The
improvement in gross margin this year was primarily due to the increase in our student fees, which have a higher
contribution margin, improved utilization of our professional services staff and realizing operating leverage on
our fixed expenses as our revenues increase.

Product Development. For the year ended December 31, 2000, we made substantial investments in
expanding and improving our Teaching Solutions product. We also incurred significant expenses in developing
tools to improve our efficiency in developing online campuses and courses. Accordingly, product development
expenses increased to $7,133,497 for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $2,255,562 for the year ended
December 31, 1999. The number of product development personnel increased to 81 at December 31, 2000 from
39 at December 31, 1999. We also incurred an increase of $453,241 in occupancy and depreciation charges
allocated to development activities. On April 1, 2000, we started to capitalize software development costs related
to our CampusPortal product. As of December 31, 2000, we have capitalized $3,141,112 in development costs,
which will be amortized through cost of revenue as we begin to recognize revenue associated with this new
product. Therefore, we had a total of $10,274,609 in product development expenditures during 2000.

Selling and Markering. Selling and marketing expenses increased to $10,586,595 for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $7,242,939 for the year ended December 31, 1999.

The increase was primarily due to an increase in marketing costs associated with the Grant Program of
$1,253,725 for 2000 from $0 in 1999. The increase in selling and marketing expenses .also reflects increases in
the number of selling and marketing personnel, additional trade show participation and other promotional
activities, and increases in travel expense. Our selling and marketing personnel increased from an average of 49
in 1999 to 64 in 2000. We also incurred additional marketing activity costs of $224,088 in 2000 associated with
enhancing our corporate website, as well as an increase of $440,477 in occupancy and depreciation charges
allocated to selling and marketing activities.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased to $9,434,181 for the year
ended December 31, 2000 from $5,929,810 for the year ended December 31, 1999. Expenses increased in the
form of additional salaries, consulting, professional fees, and travel expenses as we built and developed our
management team and operating infrastructure. We also incurred an increase of $433,546 in occupancy and
depreciation charges allocated to general and administrative activities. Additional general and administrative
expenses for 2000 include severance pay of approximately $250,000 for the former chief executive officer. In
addition, outside consulting, professional fees, recruiting fees and travel expenses increased, reflecting our
expanded business activities. The number of general and administrative personnel as of December 31, 2000 was
53, consisting of: 28 employees in the Corporate Services area which includes finance, human resources, legal,
facilities and travel; 13 employees in Systems Administration; and 12 employees in Executive and Business
Development. The number of employees at December 31, 1999 was 51.

Through December 31, 2000, we recorded aggregate deferred compensation totaling $4,139,631 in
connection with the grant of options to employees. The deferred charge is being amortized over the vesting
period of such options, which ranges from 2 to 3 years. Of the total deferred compensation, $1,191,142 was
amortized in the year ended December 31, 2000 and $1,019,771 was amortized during the year ended
December 31, 1999. The majority of compensation expense related to such options is included in general and
administrative expense. However, a portion of such compensation expense has been allocated to cost of revenue,
selling and marketing expense and product development expense as appropriate.

Other General and Administrative Expense. Additional non-cash general and administrative expenses of
$2,570,408 reflect the fair market value of options issued during the third quarter of 2000 to a non-employee
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investment partnership in exchange for-the services of our Chief Executive Officer in lieu of salary, benefits and
other compensation.

Other Income (Expense).  Interest and other income, which consists primarily of interest earnings on our
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, increased to $2,472,600 in 2000 from $374,566 in 1999. This
increase is primarily due to an increase in cash as a result of procecds from our initial public offering in the
fourth quarter of 1999 and the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in the first quarter of 2000 of
$51,150,000 and $5,115,000, respectively. Interest expense associated with our capital lease facility and interest
resulting from amortization of warrants and prepaid fees associated with establishing the line of credit in 1999
was $317,439 in 2000 compared to $23,110 in 1999.

Net loss.  For the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company incurred a net loss before the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle of $27,681,984, and a total net loss after the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle of $28,887,022, as compared to a net loss of $20,807,427 in 1999. Effective
January 1, 2000, the Company recorded a $1,205,038 one-time cumulative adjustment in response to SAB 101.
If this accounting change had not been implemented January 1, 2000, the net loss for the year ended December
31, 2000 would have been $26,561,688, or $1.69 per share. Our net loss applicable to common stockholders
increased to $28,887,022, or $1.83 per share, from $23,225,206, or $4.12 per share, for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The net loss applicable to common stockholders in 1999 includes the
impact of dividends and accretion related to our mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock.

Income Taxes

Income taxes consist of federal, state and local taxes. We have incurred significant losses since our
inception, resulting in net tax loss carryforwards. And while we believe that our revenue growth will continue in
the year 2002, we do not expect to realize net taxable income in the foreseeable future, and therefore we expect
to generate additional net operating loss carryforwards. However, utilization of such prospective net operating
loss carryforwards may be subject to certain limitations. Significant changes in ownership such as our public
offering in 1999 may also limit our ability to utilize our net operating.losses. In addition, income taxes may be
payable during this time due to operating income in certain tax jurisdictions which cannot be offset by operating
loss carryforwards. If we achieve net taxable income and the net operating loss carryforwards are not available,
because they have been exhausted or have expired, we may experience significant tax expense. We have recorded
no provision or benefit for federal and state income taxes because we incurred net operating losses from inception
through December 31, 2001. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $65,000,000 of net operating loss
carryforwards available to offset future taxable income which expire in varying amounts beginning in 2011. We
have established a valuation allowance against the entire amount of our deferred tax asset because our
management has not been able to conclude that it is more likely than not that we will be able to realize the
deferred tax asset, due primarily to our history of operating losses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents increased $4,333,543 to $16,625,705 at December 31, 2001 from
$12,292,162 at December 31, 2000. The increase from December 31, 2000 was primarily-due to cash proceeds
from sales of marketable securities of $22,129,036 and cash provided by financing activities of $653,969
(including net borrowings under our line of credit of $500,000 in 2001), partially offset by cash used in operating
activities of $11,254,840 and purchases of marketable securities of $5,998,788. Overall, our cash, cash
equivalents and available-for-sale securities decreased $11,789,156 to $16,625,705 at December 31, 2001 from
$28,414,861 at December 31, 2000.

We have financed the majority of our operations through the issuance of equity securities. We have sold
common stock and preferred stock generating aggregate proceeds of $85,102,508 from inception through

December 31, 2001, including our initial public offering.
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In January 2000, we received net proceeds of $5,115,000 from the exercise of the underwriters’ over-
allotment option. The amount received was net of the underwriting offering expenses. In May 2000, we received
$588,208 from the exercise of warrants for common stock.

We leased $2,244,057 of equipment under a $2,500,000 sale-leaseback agreement entered into in the second
quarter of 2000. At the end of the initial 36-month lease term, we are required to purchase the equipment for
8.5% of the amount drawn. As of December 31, 2001, we have leased $455,432 of equipment under a $1,500,000
sale-leaseback agreement entered into in the second quarter of 2001, and therefore have $1,044,568 available
under the new agreement. At the end of the initial 36-month lease term, we are required to purchase the
equipment for 8.25% of the amount drawn. These leases are treated as capital leases for accounting purposes. As
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company leased $2,699,489 and $2,244,057 of equipment, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation on leased equipment was $1,004,772 and $262,990 as of December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Our total capital lease obligations, including interest, as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 were
$2,040,235 and $2,428,819, respectively.

We have a $2,500,000 revolving line of credit with a maturity date of March 30, 2002 which we expect to
renew through March 2003. The line of credit is secured by all of our assets. The interest rate on the revolving
line of credit is an adjustable rate of prime, which was 4.75% as of December 31, 2001, plus 1.25%. In December
2001, the Company drew $2,500,000 from the revolving line which remained outstanding at December 31, 2001.
The entire $2,500,000 draw was subsequently repaid in January 2002, In December 2000, the Company drew
$2,000,000 from the revolving line which remained outstanding at December 31, 2000. The entire $2,000,000
draw was subsequently repaid in January 2001.

The lease agreements and line of credit contain certain financial covenants. We were out of compliance with
the quick ratio covenant as of June 30, 2001. However, we received a written waiver of the covenant as of June
30, 2001 and the covenant was subsequently amended during the third quarter of this year to exclude deferred
revenue in the calculations. We were out of compliance with the maximum loss covenant as of December 31,
2001. We received a written waiver of the covenant in March 2002.

In connection with the bank line of credit, we issued warrants to the lender for 30,000 shares of common
stock. The exercise price of the warrants is $11.00, the offering price of common shares sold in connection with
our initial public offering on December 15, 1999. The value of the warrants at the date of issuance was $172,200,
which was recorded as a deferred financing cost and was amortized to interest expense over the original term of
the revolving line of credit.

We used the net proceeds from our equity financings for funding capital expenditures and supporting sales,
marketing, product development activities, expanding our data center, investing in short-term marketable
securities with maturities of one year or less, enhancing new accounting and financial information systems and
for other expenses associated with our growth.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents, and working capital together with cash generated
from operations, are sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the
next twelve months. Because we expect to incur net losses during 2002, our cash and cash equivalents will
decrease as necessary to fund such losses.

Although at this time our plans do not require us to raise additional capital, in the future, we may desire to
raise additional capital. In the event that we need to raise additional capital, we cannot assure that additional funds
will be available or that funds will be available on terms favorable to eCollege. Our need to raise additional funds
could also directly and adversely affect our stockholders’ investment in our common stock. When a company
raises funds by issuing shares of stock, the percentage ownership of the existing stockholders of that company is
reduced, or diluted. If we raise funds in the future by issuing additional shares of stock, stockholders may
experience dilution in the value of their shares. Stockholders may also experience dilution in the value of their
shares if we issue additional shares of stock and receive funds from the exercise of outstanding stock options.
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RISK FACTORS

We Have a History of Net Operating Losses, and We Anticipate Future Losses

We have experienced aggregate net losses from operations of $72,072,784 since our inception in July 1996.
These losses consist of $422,075 for the period from inception to December 31, 1996, and $585,800, $7,402,336,
$21,158,883, $29,835,744 and $12,667,946 for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001,
respectively. We may never achieve profitability, and if we do, we may not be able to sustain profitability. In
2000 we invested heavily to develop our services and establish our development, sales and marketing
capabilities, in the belief that our success depends, among other things, on our ability to develop new
relationships with colleges, universities and other potential clients and maintain existing customer relationships.
Although we continue to hold this belief, we reduced our sales staff and marketing expenditures in March 2001
to achieve cost savings and greater operating efficiency. If we are unable to continue to increase our revenues
with this reduced sales staff and marketing budget, our business and financial results will be materially and
adversely affected.

Our Operating Results Are Likely to Fluctuate Significantly and May Be Below the Expectations of Analysts
and Investors

Because of the emerging nature of the online learning market, we may be unable to accurately forecast our
revenues. The sales cycle for our products and services varies widely and it is difficult for us to predict the timing
of particular sales, the rate at which online campuses, courses and/or course supplements will be implemented or
the number of students who will enroll in the online courses. The cancellation or delay of even a small number
of campus and/or course implementations could cause our revenues to fall short of projections. Since most of
our costs are fixed and are based on anticipated revenue levels, small variations in the timing of revenue
recognition could cause significant variations in operating results from quarter-to-quarter. As a result, we believe
that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our sales and operating results are not necessarily meaningful, and that
such comparisons may not be accurate indicators of future performance. Since we may be unable to adjust
spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall, any significant decrease in
revenue would likely have an immediate material adverse effect on our business and financial results. Due to the
change in our method of recognizing revenue from campus and course development fees as of January 1, 2000,
these fluctuations in our revenues have diminished, but still occur due to the significance of our student fee
revenue. In addition, if our future operating results are below the expectations of securities analysts or investors,
our stock price may decline.

We Operate in a Highly Competitive Market and We May Not Have Adequate Resources to Compete
Successfully

The online learning market is quickly evolving and is subject to rapid technological change. Although the
market is highly fragmented with no single competitor accounting for a dominant market share, competition is
intense. Competition is most intense from colleges’ and universities’ internal information technology
departments. Some colleges and universities construct online learning systems utilizing in-house personnel and
creating their own software or purchasing software components from a vendor. We also face significant
competition from a variety of companies including other companies which seek to offer a complete solution
including software and services; software companies with specific products for the college and university market;
systems integrators; and hardware vendors. Other competitors in this market include a wide range of education
and training providers. These companies use video, cable, correspondence, CD-ROM, computer-based training,
and online training.

We believe that the level of competition will continue to intensify as current competitors increase the
sophistication of their offerings and as new participants enter the market. Many of our current and potential
competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and significantly
greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do and may enter into strategic or commercial
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relationships with larger, more established and well-financed companies. Certain competitors may be able to
secure alliances with customers and affiliates on more favorable terms, devote greater resources to marketing
and promotional campaigns and devote substantially more resources to systems development than we can. In
addition, new technologies and the expansion of existing technologies may increase the competitive pressures
we face. Increased competition may result in reduced operating margins, as well as loss of market share and
brand recognition. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors, and
competitive pressures we face could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

We Depend on Our Key Personnel

Our success depends on the performance of senior management and on our ability to continue to attract,
motivate and retain highly qualified technical professionals. The loss of the services of a number of senior
management personnel or highly qualified technical professionals could have a material adverse effect on us.
Competition for highly skilled employees is intense in our line of business, and we may not be successful in
attracting and retaining these personnel.

We Continue to Refine Our Business Model, Cannot Predict Whether the Ongoing Changes Will Be Accepted,
and May Continue to Make Changes

Over the past few years we have implemented several changes in our business model to increase revenues,
and we continue to develop new pricing structures to meet the needs of our customers. We cannot predict whether
ongoing refinements we make to our business model will be accepted by our existing customer base or by
prospective customers. Under our current model, customers pay a one-time set-up fee at the time they enter into
a contract with us and a license fee, hosting fee and maintenance fee on an annual basis over the length of their
contract. We cannot predict whether our current pricing model will continue to be accepted by our existing
customers or whether prospective customers will be deterred from contracting with us in part because of these
terms. We therefore cannot predict whether these terms will achieve or maintain revenue growth in the future.
Moreover, we may continue to make changes to our business model to attempt to achieve greater efficiency or to
respond to changes in our evolving industry. We cannot predict whether these future changes will impact our
business negatively.

A Significant Portion of Our Revenues Are Generated From a Relatively Small Number of Clients

Revenue from a small number of customers has comprised a substantial portion of our revenue and is
expected to represent a substantial portion of our revenue in the foreseeable future. In 2001, our top 20 customers
accounted for approximately 49% of our revenue. In 2000, our top 20 customers accounted for approximately
51% of our revenue. Any cancellation, deferral or significant reduction in work performed for these principal
clients, or failure to collect accounts receivable from these principal clients, could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Sales Cycle Is Lengthy and Can Vary Widely

The sales cycle between initial customer contact and signing of a contract varies widely, reflecting
differences in our customers’ decision-making processes and budget cycles. As a result, we may not be able to
forecast the timing and amount of specific sales and resulting revenue. Our customers typically conduct extensive
and lengthy evaluations before committing to our system. Delays in the sales cycle can result from, among other
things, changes in a customer’s budget, the need for approval from both the customer’s administration and
faculty, and the need to educate customers as to the potential applications of and cost savings associated with
our services. We generally have little or no control over these factors, which may cause a potential customer to
favor a competitor’s products and services, or to delay or forego purchases altogether. The delay in or failure to
complete planned transactions could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results and
could cause our financial results to vary significantly from period to period.
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We Depend On Third Parties to Market Certain of Our Products

A substantial portion of our revenues is derived from enrollment fees for each enrollment in an online course
that we implement. Generally, we do not market the eCollege brand directly to students and therefore have little
influence on the number of students that enroll. We are therefore dependent on the institutions and organizations
that purchase our products and services to market to individual students. The failure of these third parties to
effectively attract, maintain, and increase student enrollments could have a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results.

The Undeveloped and Rapidly Changing Market for Our Products and Services Makes it Difficult to Predict
Future Growth

The market for our products and services is rapidly evolving in response to ongoing developments relating
to online technology. The market is characterized by evolving industry standards and customer demands, and an
increasing number of market entrants who have introduced or developed online products and services. It is
difficult to predict the size and growth rate, if any, of this market. As is typical in the case of a rapidly evolving
industry, demand and market acceptance for recently introduced products and services are subject to a high level
of uncertainty. Our future success will depend in significant part on our ability to continue to improve the
performance, features and reliability of our products and services in response to both evolving demands of the
marketplace and competitive product offerings, and we cannot assure that we will be successful in developing,
integrating or marketing such products or services. In addition, our new product releases may contain undetected
errors that require significant design modifications, resulting in a loss of customer confidence and adversely
affecting our business.

Our Network Infrastructure and Computer Systems May Fail

The continuing and uninterrupted performance of our network infrastructure and computer systems is
critical to our success. Any system failure that causes interruptions in our ability to provide services could reduce
customer satisfaction and, if sustained or repeated, would reduce the attractiveness of our technology and services
to our customers and their students. An increase in the number of students online through our servers could strain
the capacity of our software or hardware, which could lead to slower response times or system failures. We
periodically test our user capacity by simulating load capacity based on our student enrollment. To the extent we
do not successfully address any capacity constraints, such constraints would have a material adverse effect on
our business and financial results.

Our operations are dependent upon our ability to protect our computer systems against damage from fire,
power loss, telecommunications failures, vandalism and other malicious acts, and similar unexpected adverse
events, including the consequences of terrorist attacks. In addition, the failure of our telecommunications
provider or our network backbone provider, which provides us with our Internet connection, to provide the data
communications capacity and network infrastructure in the time frame we require could cause service
interruptions or slower response times. Despite precautions we have taken, unanticipated problems affecting our
systems have from time to time in the past caused, and in the future could cause, interruptions or delays in the
delivery of our products and services. Any damage or failure that interrupts or delays our operations could have
a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

Our Network May Be Vulnerable to Security Risks

Our success depends on our ability to provide superior network security protection and the confidence of
our customers in that ability. Our system is designed to prevent unauthorized access from the Internet and, to
date, our operations have not been affected by security breaks; nevertheless, in the future we may not be able to
prevent unauthorized disruptions of our network operations, whether caused unintentionally or by computer
“hackers.” Due to the sensitive nature of the information contained on the websites hosted by us, such as
students’ grades, our websites may be targeted by hackers. As such, disruptions may result in liability to us and
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harm to our customers, and our failure to prevent such disruptions would have a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results.

We Must Protect Our Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary rights and technology, such as our
trade and product names, and the software included in our products. We rely on a combination of copyrights,
trademarks, trade secret laws, and employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements to protect our proprietary
rights. Despite our efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to duplicate or copy aspects
of our services or software or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized
use of the software underlying our services is difficult, and while we are unable to determine the extent to which
piracy of our software exists, software piracy in general will likely be a persistent problem. In addition, the laws
of many countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States.
As a consequence, effective trademark, service mark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not be available
in every country in which our products and services are made available. Our failure to meaningfully protect our
intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

We may from time to time encounter disputes over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property.
These disputes could lead to litigation, which may be time-consuming and costly (even if successful), cause
product release delays, require us to redesign our products or services, or require us to enter into royalty or
licensing agreements, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Although we believe that
our intellectual property rights are sufficient to allow us to market our existing services without incurring liability
to third parties, we might not prevail in such disputes. Failure to prevail in one or more such disputes could
impair our right to market our services, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business and
financial results.

Online Learning May Not Be Broadly Accepted by Academics and Educators

Through our relationships with educational institutions and educators we understand that some academics
and educators are opposed to online learning in principle. They also have expressed concemns regarding the
perceived loss of control over the education process that can result from the outsourcing of online campuses and
courses. Some of these critics, particularly college and university professors, have the capacity to influence the
market for our services, and their opposition could have a material adverse impact on our business and financial
results.

The Market for Online Learning in Higher Education is in an Early Stage and May Not Continue to Develop

The market for online learning is relatively new and emerging. Our success depends upon colleges,
universities and other educational organizations adopting online learning. Although we have entered into
contracts with some colleges and universities, these colleges and universities may not continue to use the online
learning products and services we provide. Further, given their relatively early entry into the market for online
learning, the colleges and universities with which we have contracts are likely to be less risk-averse than most
colleges and universities. Accordingly, the rate at which we have been able to enter into contracts with colleges
and universities in the past may not be indicative of the rate at which we will be able to enter into contracts in
the future. Any failure of online learning to gain continuing market acceptance would have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial results.

Our Stock Price Is Likely to be Volatile

The market price of our common stock is likely to be volatile and could be subject to significant fluctuations
in response to factors such as the following, some of which are beyond our control: quarterly variations in our
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operating results; operating results that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors; changes
in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and
investors; changes in market valuations of other online service companies; future sales of our common stock;
stock market price and volume fluctuations; and other risk factors described in this Form 10-K. Moreover, our
stock is thinly traded, and we have a relatively small public float.

Domestic and international stock markets often experience extreme price and volume fluctuations. These
fluctuations, as well as general political and economic conditions, such as a recession or terrorist attacks or
interest rate or currency rate fluctuations, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. The
market prices for stocks of many Internet related and technology companies have historically experienced
extreme price fluctuations that appeared to bear no relationship to the operating performance of these companies.
These market prices are subject to wide variations.

We May Need Additional Capital In The Future And It May Not Be Available On Acceptable Terms

Although at this time our plans do not require us to raise additional capital, we may seek to raise additional
capital in the future. The circumstances that could cause us to consider raising additional capital include
acquisitions. In the event that we need to raise additional capital, we cannot assure that additional funds will be
available or that funds will be available on terms favorable to us. Our inability to raise additional capital on
acceptable terms in a timely manner could have an adverse effect on our business and our financial position.
Any of these results could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Our need to raise additional funds could also directly and adversely affect our stockholders’
investment in our common stock. When a company raises funds by issuing shares of stock, the percentage
ownership of the existing stockholders of that company is reduced, or diluted. If we raise funds in the future by
issuing additional shares of stock, stockholders may experience dilution in the value of their shares.

Any Acquisitions or Investments We Make Could Be Disruptive to Our Business, Have Adverse Accounting
Consequences or Be Dilutive to Our Investors

Although we have no present agreement or understanding relating to any material acquisition or investment,
from time to time we have had discussions with companies regarding our acquiring, or investing in, their
businesses. If we buy a company, we could have difficulty in assimilating its operations, or assimilating and
retaining its key personnel. These difficulties could disrupt our ongoing business and distract our management
and employees. Also, acquisitions may result in a variety of accounting charges which would increase our
reported expenses, including impairment of goodwill and the write off of acquired in-process research and
development. Furthermore, we may incur debt or issue dilutive equity securities to pay for any future acquisitions
or investments. As a result, any future business acquisitions or investments could have a material adverse effect
on our business and financial results.

Government Regulation May Adversely Affect Our Future Operating Results

We are increasing our presence in many states across the country. Due to this increased presence, we may
be subject to additional tax laws and government regulations which may adversely affect our future operating
results. Our violation of any state statutes, laws or other regulations, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results. In addition, it is possible that laws and regulations may be adopted with respect to
the Internet, relating to user privacy, content, copyrights, distribution, and characteristics and quality of products
and services. The adoption of any additional laws or regulations may decrease the popularity or expansion of the
Internet, and may cause us to incur unanticipated compliance costs. A decline in the growth of the Internet could
decrease demand for our products and services and increase our cost of doing business. We cannot predict the
impact, if any, that future regulation or regulatory changes may have on our business.
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We Are Subject to Risk from General Economic Conditions

Our revenues are subject to fluctuation as a result of general economic conditions. A significant portion of
our revenues are derived from the sale of products and services to colleges and universities. Should current weak
economic conditions continue or worsen, these organizations may not increase or may reduce their expenditures,
which could have an adverse effect on our business.

General Economic Conditions May Impact the Value and Realizability of our Investment Securities

Factors influencing the financial condition of security issuers may impact their ability meet their financial
obligations and could impact the realizability of our security portfolio. Our short-term investment portfolio is
managed on a discretionary basis by a third party, subject to our investment policy. The Company’s current
investment policy requires that its investment portfolio be limited to investment securities of less than one year
in maturity. As of December 31, 2001 all of our invested cash is in money market accounts, however, in the
event our investment policy changes, we could invest cash in securities which are less liquid and subject to more
market risk.

Our Plans to Expand our International Presence May Not be Successful

A component of our growth strategy is to expand our presence in select foreign markets. It may be costly to
establish international operations, promote our-brand internationally, and develop localized products and support.
Revenue from international activities may not offset the expense of establishing and maintaining these foreign
operations. In addition, we may not be successful in marketing and distributing our products due to our limited
experience in these markets.

Our Business and Future Operating Results Are Subject to A Broad Range of Uncertainties Arising Out of
the Terrorist Attacks on the United States

Our business and operating results are subject to uncertainties arising out of the terrorist attacks on the
United States of America in September 2001. These uncertainties include the potential worsening or extension
of the current global economic slowdown and the economic consequences of military action or additional
terrorist activities. While the recent terrorist attacks have not had a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations to date, any future attacks or events arising as a result of the attacks, such as interruptions
to the international telecommunications network or the Internet, could have a material impact on our business.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB’) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (*SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(*‘SFAS No. 133”"). In accordance with an amendment subsequently issued in 1999, the Company was required
to adopt SFAS No. 133 effective January 1, 2001. To date, we have not entered into any arrangements that would
fall under the scope of SFAS No. 133, and therefore the adoption of SFAS No. 133 has not had an impact on our
financial statements.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”). SFAS
No. 141 addresses financial accounting and reporting for business combinations. SFAS No. 141 is effective for
all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, and for all business combinations accounted for under
the purchase method initiated before but completed after June 30, 2001. In addition, in June 2000 the FASB
issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”” (“SFAS No. 142”). SFAS No. 142 addresses
financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and applies to all goodwill and other intangibles recognized
in the financial statements at that date. The adoption of these standards is not expected to have an impact on our
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financial position or results of operations. However, any business combinations initiated from this point forward
will be impacted by these two standards.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Asset.” This statement supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of” and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion
No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” This statement applies to
recognized long-lived assets of an entity to be held and used or to be disposed of. This statement does not apply
to goodwill, intangible assets not being amortized, financial instruments, and deferred tax assets. This statement
requires an impairment loss to be recorded for assets to be held and used when the carrying amount of a long-
lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. An asset that is classified as held-for-sale shall be
recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. We are is required to adopt this
statement for the first quarter of 2002. We do not believe that this statement will materially impact our results of
operations.

In April and July 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on two issues within
Issue No. 00-25, ““Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid to a Reseller of the Vendor’s
Products” (“EITF 00-25”). EITF 00-25 was subsequently codified along with other related EITF issues into
EITF Issue No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products™
(“EITF 01-09”). Among other issues, EITF 01-09 addresses whether consideration from a vendor to a reseller
of the vendor’s products is (a) an adjustment of the selling prices of the vendor’s products and, therefore, should
be deducted from revenue when recognized in the vendor’s income statement or (b) a cost incurred by the vendor
for assets or services received from the reseller and, therefore, should be included as a cost or an expense when
recognized in the vendor’s income statement. Under our Grant Program described in the notes to our financial
statements, we have historically accounted for our grant payments to institutions as costs of revenue or operating
expenses in our income statement. We are currently evaluating EITF 01-09 and are in the process of determining
the impact EITF 01-09 will have on our income statement classifications, if any. If it is determined that EITF
01-09 does impact the Company’s financial statements, we are required to adopt EITF 01-09 for financial
statements presented for periods beginning after December 15, 2001, and financial statements for prior periods
presented for comparative purposes would be reclassified to comply with the income statement classification
requirements of EITF 01-09.

Seasonality

Due to seasonality inherent in the academic calendar, which typically consists of three academic terms, as
well as our customers’ plans for online campus and course development, we experience fluctuations in our
sequential quarterly results. We typically have lower revenue in the summer academic term which spans the
second and third calendar quarters. Our operating expenses are relatively fixed in nature and seasonal fluctuations
in revenue will result in seasonal fluctuation in our operating results. As a result, sequential quarter-to-quarter
financial results are not directly comparable. '

In view of the rapidly evolving nature of our business and our limited operating history, we believe that our
revenue and other operating results should not be relied upon as indications of future performance. The following
summarizes selected quarterly information with respect to the Company’s operations for the last eight fiscal
quarters. Amounts are in thousands, except per share data.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2001 Quarter Ended 2000 Quarter Ended
Dec. Sept. June Mar. Dec. Sept. June Mar.
k) | 30 30 31 31 30 30 K] |
(In thousands, except per share data)

StUAENE fEES...cviirreririircerei ettt eseercsenas $3641 $3440 $3220 $2,753 $2,155 $2,187 $1,528 $ 1,167
Campus, course development and other revenue............ 1912 2,014 1,405 1,462 1,625 1,646 1,215 1,017
NEL TEVENUE ..o.vereeeverecvrie e eenasic e e reae st sseeenaseaesesernnns 5,553 5,454 4,625 4215 3,780 3,833 2,743 2,184
COSt Of TEVEIUE ....vevveeriereerrerreetiesesresreereestesnsesresvessnenns 3,170 3,474 3,413 3,783 3,657 3,327 2,813 2,854
Gross Profit (108S) ....covccerverrenrnicineniinerenessesesecreeeans 2,383 1,980 1,212 432 123 506 70$) (670)
Operating expenses:

Product devefopment..........cvnvnniiensiimnnna 1,011 1,068 1,363 1,368 2,271 2,471 1,075 1,316

Selling and MAarketing......c.oueeeerretorecreersinenreenmessssnens 1,427 1,459 1,907 2,354 2321 2,799 2,598 2,869

General and administrative..........coveorvemruvrerneninnas 1,175 1,767 1,942 1,834 1,907 2,285 2,955 2,288

Other general and administrative ..........ccceccevverennnne — — — — _ 2,570 — —

Total operating eXpenSes ......o.oerrersiersvirserossarssns 3,613 4,294 5,212 5,556 6,499 10,125 6,628 6,473

Operating 10SS .......cccnverreniniiinececen e (1,230) (2,314) (4,000) (5,124) (6,376) (9,619) (6,698) (7,143)
Interest and Other iNCOME .....c.vvveeevmrvcrvesrerieresvesesseranns 19) 41) 188 203 405 485. 566 698
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle.......c.ccoeirmnecsnsinvesiiinicinnecns (1,249) (2,355) (3,812) (4921) (5971) (9,134) (6,132) (6,445)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.... — — — — — — — (1,205)

NELLOSS veveererreereerecrmenresererenreesssseceesesirsaseseesnes $(1,249) $(2,355) $(3,812) $(4,921) $(5971) $(9,134) $(6,132) $(7,650)

Basic and diluted net loss before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle per share................... $ (.08 $ (.15 % (.24 $ (30) $ (37 $ (.57 $(39 % (44

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, operating results or cash flows
due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. The Company is, or may become, exposed to market
risk in the areas of changes in United States interest rates and changes in foreign currency exchange rates as
measured against the United States dollar. These exposures are directly related to our normal operating and
funding activities. Historically and as of December 31, 2001, we have not used derivative instruments or engaged
in hedging activities.

Additionally, the Company does not have significant exposure to changing interest rates on invested cash,
which was $15,568,615 at December 31, 2001. Historically we have invested available cash in money market
accounts, certificates of deposit and investment grade commercial paper that generally had maturities of three
months or less, as well as debt securities of United States government agencies and corporate bonds. Our short-
term investment portfolio is managed on a discretionary basis by a third party, subject to our investment policy.
The Company’s investment policy requires that its investment portfolio be limited to investment securities of
less than one year in maturity. Furthermore, as a result of a change in the Company’s investment strategy during
the third quarter of 2001 to limit risk exposure, all of our invested cash is in money market accounts as of
December 31, 2001. As a result, the interest rate market risk implicit in these investments at December 31, 2001,
is low. However, factors influencing the financial condition of security issuers may impact their ability meet their
financial obligations and could impact the realizability of our security portfolio. We have not undertaken any
other interest rate market risk management activities.

Included in the results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2001 are net realized losses of
$151,193. These losses are primarily due to the $171,627 loss sustained upon the sale of our investment in a
commercial bond issued by Southern California Edison. Due to certain circumstances related to the State of
California’s regulatory environment, the fair value of our investment in the Southern California Edison bond had
declined from its original purchased cost of $1,276,750, and we believed that the future value of these bonds
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would continue to be uncertain. Therefore, the Company elected to sell these bonds in September 2001 to reduce
the risk in our investment portfolio.

A hypothetical ten percent change in market interest rates over the next year would not have a material
effect on the fair value of the Company’s debt instruments or our cash equivalents nor would it materially impact
the earnings or cash flow associated with our cash investments. See Note 2 to the Financial Statements for further
information on the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments. Although our revolving line of credit bears
interest at an adjustable rate of prime plus 1.25%, a hypothetical ten percent change in the market rates as of
December 31, 2001 would not have a material effect on our earnings and cash flows in 2002, as the entire
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2001 were repaid on January 2, 2002. We anticipate drawing on our
line of credit only for short-term working capital needs during 2002,

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Company’s Financial Statements and Notes to Financial Statements at December 31, 2001 and 2000
and for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 together with the Report of Independent Public
Accountants are included in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as indicated on the Index to Financial
Statements and Schedule on page 44.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.
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PART IIL.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
The executive officers and directors of eCollege as of March 8, 2002 are as follows:

Name Age Position

Executive Officers and Directors

Oakleigh Thorne.........ccovevceneniiinene 44  Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Douglas H. Kelsall .........ccoeiivvninnnne. 48 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Secretary

Robert S. Haimes ........cccoecvviiiiiininnnns 40 Senior Vice President of Market and Product Management

Steven P. Lindauer ........ocooceoveeenneen. 47  Senior Vice President of Strategy and Business Development

Mark S. Brodsky .....ccocevvninerenrninenens 42 Vice President of Sales '

Dr. Edward O. Gould.....c...cccocvvrennen. 54 Vice President of Academic and Government Affairs

Matthew T. Schnittman.........cccccouene. 30 Vice President of Professional Services

Ward R. Huseth, C.PA. ..o 29  Chief Accounting Officer and Controller

Lee R. Spiegler......cccccovviiivniineeninnnn. 33 General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

Jack W. Blumenstein.........c..coccceevveeenn. 58 Director

Christopher E. Girgenti(1)(2).............. 38 Director

Jeri L. Korshak(1)(2)....c.coovevvvevvecrerenenn 47 Director

Robert H. Mundheim(1)(2)................. 69 Director

(1) Member of the Compensation Committee.
(2) Member of the Audit Committee.

Oakleigh Thorne has served as our Chief Executive Officer since May 30, 2000 and as a member of our
Board of Directors since February 1998. Mr. Thome has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of TBG
Information Investors, LLC and the co-President of Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners, L.L.C. since
October 1996, and is a co-founder of these private equity investment firms. TBG, a partnership with GS Capital
Partners II, is a private equity fund that focuses on capital transactions in the information industry. Prior to that
time, from September 1986 to August 1996, Mr. Thorne served in various management positions, including most
recently as President and Chief Executive Officer of CCH Incorporated, a leading provider of tax and business
law information, software, and services.

Douglas H. Kelsall was named Executive Vice President in November 2000 and has served as our Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer since September 1999 and as our Secretary since November 2000. From July
1997 to August 1999, Mr. Kelsall served as Chief Financial Officer of TAVA Technologies, Inc.; from December
1995 to June 1997, he served as Chief Financial Officer of Evolving Systems, Inc.; from June 1993 to December
1995, he served as President of Caribou Capital Corporation. Prior to that time, Mr. Kelsall served in various
management and Vice President positions at Colorado National Bank. Mr. Kelsall holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Colorado and a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Denver. Mr. Kelsall presently serves on the Board of Caribou Capital Corporation.

Robert S. Haimes was named Senior Vice President of Market and Product Management in August 2001
and has served as our Vice President of Marketing since November 1999. From 1996 to 1999, he served as the
Brand Marketing Director and the Director of Market Development for Coors Brewing Company. In 1995 and
1996, Mr. Haimes was Director of New Products and New Business Development at Boston Chicken, Inc. Prior
to September of 1995, Mr. Haimes held positions in brand management, new business development and
operations management at Procter and Gamble. He played a key role in his eleven years at Procter and Gamble,
managing marketing campaigns to consumers and professionals in a highly competitive industry. Mr. Haimes
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Cincinnati and a Master
of Business Administration degree from Xavier University.
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Steven P. Lindauer has served as our Senior Vice President of Strategy and Business Development since
August 2001. From June 2000 to May 2001, Mr. Lindauer served as a Director of Strategic Alliances at
DigitalThink, where he launched and operated the company’s alliance with one of the world’s largest technology
outsourcing and systems integration firms. Prior to April 2000, Mr. Lindauer worked for Accenture, Ltd.
(formerly Andersen Consulting) for 17 years, most recently as associate partner and global competency leader
for its learning practice. Mr. Lindauver holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Biology from the University of
Colorado.

Mark . Brodsky has served as our Vice President of Sales since August 1, 2000. Mr. Brodsky served as our
Regional Vice President of Sales in the Eastern territory from November 14, 1998 to July 31, 2000. Prior to
Jjoining eCollege, Mr. Brodsky was Vice President of Sales for Aprisa Multimedia, a company he helped found
in Denver in 1995, which was later acquired by Capella Learning in November 1997. Prior to Aprisa, Mr.
Brodsky held sales and sales management positions with Aimtech Corporation, Fluent Inc., Teleconferencing
Systems and Hughes Aircraft Corporation. Mr. Brodsky received a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from
San Diego State University. ’

Dr. Edward O. Gould has served as our Vice President of Academic and Government Affairs since January
2002. Dr. Gould also serves as the Executive Director of the academic forum, Center for Internet Technology in
Education (CiTESM), a division of eCollege. Dr. Gould comes to eCollege from San Joaquin Delta College
where he served as Superintendent and President from January 2000 to January 2002. Other previous positions
include Vice Chancellor of Student Services and Special Programs at the California Community Colleges
Chancellor’s Office in Sacramento from-July 1998 to January 2000; interim Vice President of Student Services
at Ohlone College from July 1997 to June 1998; President and District Superintendent at Monterey Peninsula
College from July 1995 to June 1997; President and District Superintendent at Victor Valley Community College
District from August 1990 to June 1995; and from July 1986 until July 1990 Dean of Student Services at the
Gavilan Joint Community College District. Dr. Gould attended Hartnell College, California State University
Hayward, San Diego State College and the University of Nevada, Reno, where he earned a Doctorate in
Education in Counseling and Personnel Services.

Matthew T. Schnittman has served as our Vice President of Professional Services since July 2001. Mr.
Schnittman served as our Director of Strategic Planning and Analysis from July 1999 to June 2001. Before
joining eCollege, Mr. Schnittman worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers from June 1998 to June 1999 in the
Management Consulting Strategy group, where he provided strategic consulting services to Fortune 1,000
companies. From January 1995 to June 1997, Mr. Schnittman was with CCD, LLP, a consulting boutique focused
on consumer product strategy. Mr. Schnittman holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business and Public
Administration in Marketing from the University of Arizona, and a Master of Business Administration degree in
Management and Strategy, Finance and Marketing from JL. Kellogg Graduate School of Management.

Ward R. Huseth, C.P.A., has served as our Chief Accounting Officer and Controller since December 2001.
Mr. Huseth served as our Assistant Controller from December 2000 to December 2001. Prior to joining eCollege,
Mr. Huseth worked for the public accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP for five years, most recently as an
assurance and advisory manager for its Denver, Colorado office. Mr. Huseth holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Accounting from the University of Wisconsin-Whitewater.

Lee R. Spiegler has served as our General Counsel and Assistant Secretary since September 2001. Prior to
joining eCollege, Mr. Spiegler served as General Counsel for ClearVision Laser Centers from November 2000
through August 2001 and as their Assistant General Counsel from July 1999 through November 2000. From June
1998 through July 1999, Mr. Spiegler was an Associate with Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison, LLP. From September
1996 through June 1998, Mr. Spiegler was an Associate with Ballard Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP. Mr.
Spiegler received a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from The Wharton School, University of
Pennsylvania and a Juris Doctor degree from the University of Colorado School of Law.
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Jack W, Blumenstein has served as a member of our Board of Directors since January 1998. Mr. Blumenstein
has been the President of TBG Information Investors, LLC, and the co-President of Blumenstein/Thorne
Information Partners, L.L.C. since October 1996, and is a co-founder of these private equity investment firms.
TBG, a partnership with GS Capital Partners II, is a private equity fund that focuses on capital transactions in
the information industry. From October 1992 to September 1996, Mr. Blumenstein held various positions with
The Chicago Corporation (now ABN AMRO, Inc.), serving most recently as Executive Vice President, Debt
Capital Markets Group and a member of the Board of Directors. Mr. Blumenstein was President and CEO of
Ardis, a joint venture of Motorola and IBM, and has held various senior management positions in product
development and sales and marketing for Rolm Corporation and IBM. Mr. Blumenstein also presently serves on
the Boards of Illuminet Holdings, Inc., AirCell, Inc., SCP Communications, Inc. and RCT Systems, Inc.

Christopher E. Girgenti has served as a member of our Board of Directors since June 1997. Mr. Girgenti
has been Senior Managing Director of New World Equities, Inc. since November 1996 and Managing Director
of New World Venture Advisors, LLC since January 1998. From April 1994 through October 1996, Mr. Girgenti
served as Vice President and was co-head of the technology investment banking group of The Chicago
Corporation (now ABN AMRO, Inc.). He has held various corporate finance positions with Kemper Securities,
Inc. and KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. Girgenti is a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Girgenti also presently serves
on the Boards of Tavve Software Company and BulkMarkets.com, Inc.

Jeri L. Korshak has served as a member of our Board of Directors since February 1999. Ms. Korshak has
over twenty years of experience in marketing and business development. Ms. Korshak served as Senior Vice
President of Marketing and Business Development for AuraServ Communications from June 2000 to March
2001 and Vice President of Strategy for MediaOne Group from June 1998 to June 2000. Ms. Korshak was Vice
President and General Manager of US WEST Dex-Mountain Region from September 1995 to May 1998, and
Vice President and General Manager of Interactive Television of US WEST Multimedia from November 1994 to
September 1995. In these and other positions, Ms. Korshak has been involved in developing and introducing
interactive services.

Robert H. Mundheim has served as a member of our Board of Directors since January 2001. Mr. Mundheim
has been Of Counsel to Shearman & Sterling since March 1999. Mr. Mundheim formerly held the position of
Senior Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Salomon Smith Barney Holdings Inc. Before that he
was Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Salomon Inc., a firm which he joined in September 1992,
Prior to joining Salomon Inc., Mr, Mundheim was co-Chairman of the New York law firm of Fried, Frank, Harris,
Shriver & Jacobson. Until 1992 Mr. Mundheim was the University Professor of Law and Finance at the
University of Pennsylvania Law School, where he had taught since 1965. He served as Dean of that institution
from 1982 through 1989. Among his other professional activities, Mr. Mundheim has been General Counsel to
the U.S. Treasury Department (1977-1980); Special Counsel to the Securities and Exchange Commission (1962-
1963); and Vice Chairman, Governor-at-Large and a member of the Executive Committee of the National
Association of Securities Dealers (1988-1991). He is a trustee and President of the American Academy in Berlin,
a trustee of the New School University and a member of the Council of the American Law Institute, board
member of the Salzburg Seminar, and President of the Appleseed Foundation. He served as a member of the
ABA Commission on Multidisciplinary Practice and on the Bar Association of the City of New York’s
Commission on the Future of CUNY.

Directors’ Terms

All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders or until their successors have been
duly elected and qualified.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long Term Compensation

Securities
- Restricted Stock  Underlying All Other

Name and Principal Position Year  Salary Bonus Other Awards Options/SARs  Compensation

Oakleigh THONE ...coervrrreerererrece 2001 $52,730(1)
Chief Executive Officer . 2000 $19,010(1) 1,000,000(1)

1999

Douglas H. Kelsall............ccoooviunnnn. 2001 $185,000 - $142,500(2) 25,000
Executive Vice President, Chief 2000 $171,541 $ 68,000 100,000
Financial Officer and Treasurer 1999 $ 40,815(2) $ 30,000 222,221(2)

Nancy S. ROECKer.....ccccvvmmrereriiareens 2001  $180,000 $28,279(3) 7,500
Senior Vice President and Chief 2000 $ 6,922(3) 75,000
Technology Officer 1999

Robert S. HAImMES .....o.vevrrerriernicienes 2001  $180,000 16,000
Vice President, Market and 2000 $148,333 $ 54,000 15,000
Product Management 1999 % 15436 $ 9121 90.000

Mark S. Brodsky .......ccomvrienrircennnins 2001  $140,000 7,500
Vice President, Sales 2000 $115,625 $ 81,500  $31,957(4) 62,500

1999 $ 75,000 $39.687(4) 2,834

Charles P. Schneider ......ccccovevverianas 2001 $168,485 75,000(5) $132,500(5)
Former President and Chief 2000 $250,833 $120,000 125,000
Operating Officer 1999  $102,750(5) $145,500(5) 435,555

M

2

3

Oakleigh Thorne has served as our Chief Executive Officer since May 30, 2000. In lieu of salary, benefits
and other compensation, the Company granted Blumenstein/Thome Information Partners I, L.P, an
investment fund affiliated with Mr. Thorne, fully vested options to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. Of these 1,000,000 shares, options for-200,000 shares have an exercise price of
$3.875, the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant; options for 200,000
shares have an exercise price of $3.873, based on the Company having met certain stock price performance
criteria; and options for the remaining 600,000 shares have an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which can
be adjusted to $3.875 based on certain stock price performance criteria. In the third quarter of 2001, the
Company recorded the fair market value, based upon an independent valuation, of these non-employee
options of $2,570,408 as compensation expense. This amount is reflected as Other General and
Administrative expense in the accompanying statements of operations. In addition, the Company pays Mr.
Thorne’s travel and living expenses, which totaled $52,730 in 2001 and $19,010 in 2000.

Douglas H. Kelsall has served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer since September of 1999. On June
21, 2001 Mr. Kelsall was awarded 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s
1999 Stock Incentive Plan in consideration for his services to the Company and his consent to terminate a
previous option grant issued in 1999 for the option to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock at an exercise price of $9.00, the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of
grant. One third of the shares will vest on June 21, 2002, the one year anniversary of the award, and the
balance will vest in 24 successive equal monthly installments beginning in July 2002, provided Mr. Kelsall
continues in employment with the Company. Dividends will be payable on the vested shares if, and to the
extent, paid on the Company’s common stock generally. On December 31, 2001, these restricted shares of
common stock had a market value of $158,500. The Company recorded stock-based deferred compensation
cost of $142,500, equal to the fair market value of the restricted common stock on June 21, 2001. The
deferred compensation cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis through July 2, 2004.

Nancy S. Roecker served as the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer from
December 2000 to February 2002. Her employment with the Company terminated in February 2002. The
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Company paid Ms. Roecker $17,187 in living expenses and $11,092 in moving expenses, for which she
issued a promissory note to the Company, during 2001.

Mark S. Brodsky received $31,957 and $39,687 in compensation for commissions related to sales in 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Charles P. Schneider served as the Company’s President from November 2000 through July 2001 and as the
Company’s Chief Operating Officer from June 1999 through November 2000. His employment with the
Company terminated in July 2001. On July 2, 2001, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
awarded Mr. Schneider options to purchase up to 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the
Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Schneider’s services to the Company and
his consent to extend the non-competition provisions of his employment agreement in connection with his
departure from the Company. These options have a 5 year term, were fully vested at the award date and
become exercisable on July 2, 2002. The exercise price of the option grant is $5.00 per share. Mr. Schneider
received a $108,000 signing and moving bonus in 1999 pursuant to his employment agreement. Pursuant to
his employment agreement, Mr. Schneider executed a severance agreement with the Company and received
severance pay in the amount of $132,500, equa! to six months of his salary,

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants

Number of % of Total

Securities Options/SARs  Exercise

Underlying Granted to or Base
Options/SARs  Employees in Price Expiration

Potential Realized Value at
Assumed Annual Rates of
Stock Price Appreciation
for Option Term

Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year ($/Sh) Date 5%($) 10%($)
Qakleigh ThOme ......ccooveuveeererernecencnns —_ — — — — —
Douglas H. Kelsall...........c.ccovriveerrnene. 25,000 4.4% 3$2.85  6/20/11 $ 44,809 $ 56,125
Nancy S. ROECKEr ..coovivevriiinirineereecans 7,500 1.3% $2.85  6/20/11 $ 13,443 $ 16,838
Robert S. Haimes ........ooceevriinviicnnienennns 16,000 2.8% $2.85 6/20/11 $ 28,678 $ 35,920
Mark S. Brodsky .....covccoeveencrecciniennn 7,500 1.3% $2.85 6/20/11 $ 13,443 § 16,838

Charles P. Schneider ..........ccccoovvvnnnnee 75,000(1) 13.1% $5.00 7/01/06 $235,835 $295,395

M

On July 2, 2001, Mr. Schneider was awarded options to purchase up to 75,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock under the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Schneider’s
services to the Company and his consent to extend the non-competition provisions of his employment
agreement in connection with his departure from the Company. These options have a 5 year term, were
fully vested at the award date and become exercisable on July 2, 2002. The exercise price of the option
grant is $5.00 per share.
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Aggregate Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth information concerning the aggregate number of options exercised during the
year ended December 31, 2001 by each of the named Executive Officers and outstanding options held by each
officer at December 31, 2001.

Number of Securities

Shares Unqerlying Unexercised Value of Unexergised
Acquired Options atzlﬁ)(t)a;:ember 31, Inlsthe-l\/{)one%'loi)tmns at

On Value ecember 31, 2001(1)

Name Exercise  Realized Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Oakleigh ThOrne.........coovvveverecerrenrienens — —  1,000,000(2) — $ 0 h) 0
Douglas H. Kelsall ..........ccooeveiiiinennn. — — 157,988 139,233 $6,965 $15,785
Nancy S. Roecker.......ccoovvverererrvenennnne. — — 27,083 55,417 $ 0 $ 2,400
Robert S. HAIMES ......cocevvvrcreinreenneennne — — 67,083 53,917 $2,089 $ 7,456
Mark S. Brodsky .....coovvverenriinincnnnne. — — 34,531 42,969 $6,186 $ 3,957
Charles P. Schneider............o.eeeveveneen. 8,334  $10,209 — 75,000 $ 0 $ 0

(1) Whether an option is “in-the-money” is determined by subtracting the exercise price of the option from the
closing price for the common stock as reported by the NASDAQ on December 31, 2001 ($3.17). If the
amount is greater than zero, the option is “in-the-money.” For the purpose of such calculation, the exercise
price per share is the applicable exercise price as of December 31, 2001 and does not reflect market price
changes subsequent to December 31, 2001.

(2) Granted to Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P., an investment fund affiliated with Mr. Thorne,
and are fully vested options.

Director Compensation

Non-employee Board members are compensated with an annual payment of $10,000 for Board service and
an additional $2,500 for service on each committee. Pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, each
non-employee Board member may elect to apply all or any portion of the annual retainer fee otherwise payable
in cash for his or her service on the Board to the acquisition of a special option grant under the Director Fee
Option Grant Program. Such election must be filed with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer prior to the first
day of the calendar year for which the election is to be in effect. Each non-employee Board member who files
such a timely election with respect to the annual retainer fee shall automatically be granted an option under the
Director Fee Option Grant Program on the first trading day in January in the calendar year for which that fee
would otherwise be payable. Board members are reimbursed for their reasonable travel expenses incurred in
connection with attending the Company’s meetings.

On April 26, 2001, Mr. Mundheim was granted 95,000 options to purchase the Company’s Common Stock
as compensation for his service as a director. The 95,000 options are exercisable in sixty successive equal
monthly installments upon Mr. Mundheim’s completion of each month of Board service. These options were
granted at an exercise price of $3.85. These options are subject to a special acceleration event if Oakleigh Thorne
ceases service as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and his replacement or
replacements are not acceptable to Mr. Mundheim (*‘Special Acceleration Event’”). If the Special Acceleration
Event occurs on or before January 23, 2004, then 50% of the outstanding unvested options held by Mr.
Mundheim automatically accelerate so that such options shall become fully vested and exercisable. If such
Special Acceleration Event happens after January 23, 2004, then 100% of the outstanding options held by Mr.
Mundheim automatically accelerate so that such options shall become fully vested and exercisable.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Kelsall. The agreement, as amended, sets an
annual base salary for Mr. Kelsall of $185,000, which may be adjusted upward by the Board of Directors. In
addition to a base salary, Mr. Kelsall is eligible for an annual bonus of up to $92,500, payable in cash. For the
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year ended December 31, 2001, we issued to Mr, Kelsall options to purchase up to 25,000 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $2.85 per share. These options are subject to vesting requirements. In addition, on
June 21, 2001, Mr. Kelsall was awarded 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s
1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Kelsall’s services to the Company and his consent to
terminate a previous option grant issued in 1999 for the option to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $9.00, the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock at the
date of grant. These shares of common stock are restricted, with the restrictions lapsing in a series of installments
over three years, provided that Mr. Kelsall remains in continuous service with the Company through each date.
All unvested options vest upon a change of control of eCollege. Mr. Kelsall is also entitled to standard benefits
including vacation days, participation in a flexible reimbursement plan, and medical/dental insurance.

Mr. Kelsall’s employment may be terminated by eCollege or by him at any time and for any reason.

We have agreed to provide Mr. Kelsall with severance pay equal to six months of his base salary, unless his
employment is terminated for cause, as defined in the agreement.

The agreement contains non-competition provisions during the term of employment and for the period six
months after termination of employment. Under these provisions, Mr. Kelsall may not:

*  own an interest in, participate in the management of, or perform services for any competitive business
or activity; or

+  for a period of 12 months subsequent to termination, solicit any of our employees to terminate their
employment.

The agreement also contains a confidentiality provision as well as a provision recognizing that we own all
ideas and inventions conceived by Mr. Kelsall during the term of the agreement.

We have entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Haimes. The agreement, as amended, sets an
annual base salary for Mr. Haimes of $180,000, which may be adjusted upward or downward by the Board of
Directors. In addition to a base salary, Mr. Haimes is eligible for an annual bonus of up to $72,000, payable in
cash. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we issued to Mr. Haimes options to purchase up to 16,000 shares
of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.85 per share. These options are subject to vesting requirements,
All unvested options vest upon a change of control of eCollege. Mr. Haimes is also entitled to standard benefits
including vacation days, participation in a flexible reimbursement plan, and medical/dental insurance.

Mr. Haimes’ employment may be terminated by eCollege or by him at any time and for any reason.

The agreement contains non-competition provisions during the term of employment and for the period
twelve months after termination of employment. Under these provisions, Mr. Haimes may not:

*  own an interest in, participate in the management of, or perform services for any competitive business
or activity; or

»  for a period of 12 months subsequent to termination, solicit any of our employees to terminate their
employment.

The agreement also contains a confidentiality provision as well as a provision recognizing that we own all
ideas and inventions conceived by Mr. Haimes during the term of the agreement.

We have entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Brodsky. The agreement, as amended, sets an
annual base salary for Mr. Brodsky of $140,000, which may be adjusted upward or downward by the Board of
Directors. In addition to a base salary, Mr. Brodsky is eligible for an annual bonus of up to $140,000, payable in
cash. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we issued to Mr. Brodsky options to purchase up to 7,500 shares
of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.85 per share. These options are subject to vesting requirements.
All unvested options will vest upon a change of control of eCollege. Mr. Brodsky is also entitled to standard
benefits including vacation days, participation in a flexible reimbursement plan, and medical/dental insurance.
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Mr. Brodsky's employment may be terminated by eCollege or by him at any time and for any reason.

The agreement contains non-competition provisions during the term of employment and for the period of
twelve months after termination of employment. Under these provisions, Mr. Brodsky may not:

*  own an interest in, participate in the management of, or perform services for any competitive business
or activity; or

»  for a period of 12 months subsequent to termination, solicit any of our employees to terminate their
employment. '

The agreement also contains a confidentiality provision as well as a provision recognizing that we own ali
ideas and inventions conceived by Mr. Brodsky during the term of the agreement. -

We have entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Lindauer. The agreement sets an annual base
salary for Mr. Lindauer of $170,000, which may be adjusted upward or downward by the Board of Directors. In
addition to a base salary, Mr. Lindaver was eligible for a bonus of up to $14,875, payable in cash for the year
ending December 31, 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we issued to Mr. Lindauer options to
purchase up to 75,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share. These options are
subject to vesting requirements. All unvested options will vest upon a change of control of eCollege. Mr.
Lindauer is also entitled to standard benefits including vacation days, participation in a flexible reimbursement
plan, and medical/dental insurance.

Mr. Lindauer’s employment may be terminated by eCollege or by him at any time and for any reason.

The agreement contains non-competition provisions during the term of employment and for the period of
six months after termination of employment. Under these provisions, Mr. Lindauer may not:

*  own an interest in, participate in the management of, or perform services for any competitive business
or activity; or

+  for a period of 6 months subsequent to termination, solicit any of our employees to terminate their
employment.

The agreement also contains a confidentiality provision as well as a provision recognizing that we own all
ideas and inventions conceived by Mr. Lindauer during the term of the agreement.

We have entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Gould. The agreement sets an annual base salary
for Dr. Gould of $147,000, which may be adjusted upward or downward by the Board of Directors. In addition
to a base salary, Dr. Gould is eligible for an annual bonus of up to $48,000, payable in cash. On January 31,
2002, we issued to Dr. Gould options to purchase up to 30,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price
of $2.75 per share. These options are subject to vesting requirements. All unvested options will vest upon a
change of control of eCollege. Dr. Gould is also entitled to standard benefits including vacation days,
participation in a flexible reimbursement plan, and medical/dental insurance.

Dr. Gould’s employment may be terminated by eCollege or by him at any time and for any reason.

The agreement contains non-competition provisions during the term of employment and for the period of
twelve months after termination of employment. Under these provisions, Dr. Gould may not:

*  own an interest in, participate in the management of, or perform services for any competitive business
or activity; or

+  for a period of 12 months subsequent to termination, solicit any of our employees to terminate their
employment.
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The agreement also contains a confidentiality provision as well as a provision recognizing that we own all
ideas and inventions conceived by Dr. Gould during the term of the agreement.

In July 2001, Mr. Schneider’s employment with the Company terminated. The Company entered into an
employment agreement with Mr. Schneider at the time of his hiring. Under the terms of his agreement, Mr.
Schneider was entitled to receive severance pay in an amount equal to six months of his salary upon execution
of a severance agreement. On July 2, 2001, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors awarded Mr.
Schneider options to purchase up to 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s 1999
Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Schneider’s services to the Company and his consent to extend
the non-competition provisions of his agreement in connection with his departure from the Company. These
options have a S5 year term, were fully vested at the award date and become exercisable on July 2, 2002. The
exercise price of the option grant is $5.00 per share.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information known to us with respect to beneficial ownership of the
common stock as of March 8, 2002 (unless otherwise stated in the footnotes) by (i) each stockholder that we
know is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the common stock, (ii) each director and nominee for director,
(iii) each of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table and (iv) all executive officers and
directors as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, each of the security holders has sole voting and investment
power with respect to the shares beneficially owned, subject to community property laws, where applicable.

Number of
Shares

Beneficially Percent of
Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Ownership
0aKI1eigh TROINE ....ovvvieeiiiiieciee ettt s et s ettt bt st sn b s s 3,564,227(1) 20.6%
Douglas H: Kelsall.........cocoiiiiiiieniiniiniiseenieenen sttt sttn s evee st srasasinees 207,655(2) 1.3%
INANCY S, ROCCKET ...oviiivieiieerieierietetcn ettt st eb et b ae et r b e e s baba s bssessarones 35,415(3) *
RODEIt S. HAIMES ...ttt ear e e e et s s entes e saaeeennreesmnaressrbressaaeeonn 83,919(4) *
Mark S. BrodsKy .....cocceiinieinicrii et et et 48,277(5) *
Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. ..o 2,622,975(6) 15.1%
New World EQUities, INC. .coooveiiiiiieiiiencceei e e e e 917,378(7) 5.6%
JACK W. BIUMENSIEIN......occeiiieriuieerreireecereesieesresieeseresveestnesaaestaeassaesssesresessassnssessassessnesnne 2,627,475(8) 15.1%
Christopher E. GIrZenti......cocooeverieiiriieinieresivieinnirrs ettt s s b s 917,378(9) 5.6%
Jeri L. KOTShaK.....ocveieereeieiieisieniscicie s ssess st e st bbbt 12,361(10) *
RODert H. MUBANEIM ... st se s seses s seene 23,750(11) *
Charles P. Schneider .........cooovviviveiiveeeeseeeeeeievesveees ettt e st et r et et rat o eararens 10,500(12) *
Robert N. HEIMICK . .....cooiiiiiiiie ettt sre e st ctve v et e et e baas stve s evaeerrasrnee 1,400,000(13) 8.6%
R.A. INVESMENT GIOUP ...coviivieniiiiriieitieristencenen e eteeatesseereesesbestteebesssascenensreenatansessasssensens 1,072,223(14) 6.6%
Wellington Management Company LLP.......cccoccoiiiiriminneceneenc e ncenene 1,000,000(15) 6.1%
Lord, ADDBEtt & 0. .ooviiiieie ittt et et e r e et sebe et et et b b s e beenes 1,150,300(16) 7.0%
AWM INVESHMENT CO. viiiiieiiciieiee ettt ceeeseee s s resestessssbtsesasessabsesstaresesanessasersss 999,446(17) 6.1%
Oakleigh B. TROINE ....cc.coviieiiieii ettt sve b e e sbeseasb e sresees 722,222(18) 4.4%

All directors and executive Officers as a groUpP......ccocuieeivrrrnrerieiceeiesceeeererre e eve s 4,930,502(19) 27.8%

*  Less than one percent

(1) Includes an option grant to Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P., to purchase up to 1,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock. Of these 1,000,000 shares, 200,000 option shares have an exercise
price of $3.875, the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant; 200,000
option shares have an exercise price of $3.875, based on the Company having met certain stock price
performance criteria; and 600,000 option shares have an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which can be
adjusted to $3.875 based on certain stock price performance criteria. Also includes 1,622,975 shares
beneficially owned by Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. and 75,955 shares owned by the
Oakleigh Thore Irrevocable GST Trust. Mr. Thome is a co-President of Blumenstein/Thorme Information
Partners L.L.C, the general partner of Blumenstein/Thorme Information Partners I, L.P. Mr. Thome
disclaims beneficial ownership of the options and shares held by Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners
I, L.P, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest, if any. The address for Mr. Thorne is 10200 A East
Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231.

(2) Includes options to purchase 186,655 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8,
2002, 4,500 shares held by Mr. Kelsall’s spouse and 1,500 shares held by Mr. Kelsall’s children. The
address for Mr. Kelsall is 10200 A East Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231.

(3) Consists of options to purchase 35,415 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8,
2002. The address for Ms. Roecker is 1102 Forest Trail Drive, Castle Rock, Colorado 80104.
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12)

13)

(14)

(15)
(16)

Includes options to purchase 81,665 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8, 2002.
The address for Mr. Haimes is 10200 A East Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231.

Includes options to purchase 43,605 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8, 2002.
The address for Mr. Brodsky is 10200 A East Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231.

Includes an option grant of fully vested options to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. Of these 1,000,000 shares, 200,000 shares have an exercise price of $3.875, the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant; 200,000 option shares have an exercise
price of $3.875 based on the Company having met certain stock price performance criteria; and 600,000
shares have an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which can be adjusted to $3.875 based on certain stock
price performance criteria. The address for Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. is P.O. Box
871, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045.

The address for New World Equities, Inc. is 1603 Orrington Avenue, Suite 1070, Evanston, Illinois 60201.

Includes an option grant to Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P., to purchase up to 1,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock. Of these 1,000,000 shares, options for 200,000 option shares have
an exercise price of $3.875, the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant;
200,000 option shares have an exercise price of $3.875 based on the Company having met certain stock
price performance criteria; and 600,000 option shares have an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which
can be adjusted to $3.875 based on certain stock price performance criteria. Also consists of 1,622,975
shares beneficially owned by Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. and 3,500 shares owned by
the Jack Wray Blumenstein Contributory IRA and 1,000 shares owned by Mr. Blumenstein’s spouse. Mr.
Blumenstein is a co-President of Blumenstein/Thome Information Partners L.L.C., the general partner of
Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. Mr. Blumenstein disclaims beneficial ownership of the
options and shares held by Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P., except to the extent of his
pecuniary interest, if any. The address for Mr. Blumenstein is P.O. Box 871, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045.

Consists of 917,378 shares beneficially owned by New World Equities, Inc., of which Mr. Girgenti is a
Senior Director. Mr. Girgenti disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his
pecuniary interest, if any. The address for Mr. Girgenti is 1603 Orrington Avenue, Suite 1070, Evanston,
Illinois 60201.

Includes options to purchase 11,361 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8, 2002.
The address for Ms. Korshak is c/o eCollege, 10200 A East Girard Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80231.

Consists of options to purchase 23,750 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 8,
2002. The address for Mr. Mundheim is 599 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10022.

The address for Mr. Schneider is 171 S. Olive Street, Denver, Colorado 80230.

Consists of 975,000 shares of common stock held by Robert N. Helmick Limited and 425,000 shares of
common stock held by the Julia A. Helmick Annuity Trust. The address for Mr. Helmick is 34 Cherry
Hills Farm Drive, Englewood, Colorado 80110.

Consists of 943,556 shares held by R.A. Investment Group, 42,889 shares held by Nicholas J. Pritzker, as
trustee of the Donrose Trust, 42,889 shares held by Marshall E. Eisenberg, as trustee of JBR Trust #4, and
42,889 shares held by Simon Zunamon, as trustee of T&M Childrens Trust; excludes an aggregate of
301,378 shares owned by such persons, as to which New World Equities has the sole voting and dispositive
power pursuant to certain nominee agreements; and excludes any other shares beneficially owned by New
World Equities, Inc. or its owners. The address for such persons is 200 W. Madison Street, Suite 2500,
Chicago, Illinois 60606.

The address for Wellington Management Group LLC is 75 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109,
The address for Lord, Abbett & Company is 90 Hudson Street, Jersey City, New Jersey 07302.
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(17) The address for AWM Investment Company is 153 East 53rd Street, 55th floor, New York, New York
10022.

(18) Excludes shares beneficially owned by Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. Mr. Thorne is the
beneficiary of a trust which is a limited partner in Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P. Mr.
Thorne is the father of Oakleigh Thorne, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The address for Oakleigh
B. Thorne is P.O. Box 871, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045.

(19) Includes 1,399,903 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 8§,
2002. [See notes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5,9, 10, 11]

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Transactions With Management and Others

The following are brief descriptions of transactions between us and any of our directors, executive officers
or stockholders known to us to own beneficially more than 5% of our shares, or any member of the immediate
family of any of those persons, since January 1, 2001, where the amount involved exceeded $60,000:

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our non-employee directors, Messrs. Blumenstein,
Girgenti and Mundheim and Ms. Korshak. '

Indebtedness of Management

On June 23, 2000, the Company issued a $271,000 secured promissory note to Jonathan Dobrin, our former
Chief Technology Officer. The note is a full recourse note and is secured by the common stock of the Company
owned by the former executive officer. The note was originally due on December 31, 2000. Interest accrued on
the note through December 31, 2000 was paid during the first quarter of 2001. The note was extended until April
30, 2002 and began to bear interest at 9% per annum as of April 1, 2001. The principal, together with accrued
but unpaid interest due on the outstanding unpaid balance, is payable in monthly installments through April 30,
2002. In November 2001, the Company purchased 14,935 of the pledged shares of the Company’s common stock
from the former executive officer for $3.00 per share, or $44,805, in lieu of cash payment on the note. These
shares of common stock were immediately retired and are no longer outstanding. As of December 31, 2001,
$117,430 remained outstanding on the note receivable. In January 2002, the Company purchased 15,801 of the
pledged shares of the Company’s common stock from the former executive officer for $3.00 per share, or
$47.403, in lieu of cash payment on the note.
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PART IV.

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Public ACCOUNTANTS ........ocvcviiieiniiniiiiiiiis e e 47
Balance SHEELS.......coociiiiiiiiiitc e e e s b es et 48
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive LOSS ... 49
Statements of Stockholders” EQUIty (DefICit) ......cccvvoimireeiiriioreeeeieniiise st sr e eassesson 50
Statements of Cash FLOWS ......cccoiiiiiiiiciii e st et b e s ne s 51
Notes t0 Financial StAtemMENTS .........c..ccecrriiieierriereercinn et et ettt seeteresesese st esenesnensssasien 52
(a)(2) None
(a)(3) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description
3.1* Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
3.4* Amended and Restated Bylaws.
4.1* Specimen Common Stock Certificate.
10.1%* Separation Agreement and Release Between Rob Helmick and Company.
10.2%%* Registration Agreement between Company and Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P.
10.3*** Stock Option Agreement between Company and Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I, L.P.
10.5% Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement made as of December 21, 1998, by and
among the Registrant and each of the Parties listed on the Schedules attached thereto.
10.6* Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its outside directors.
10.9* Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant expiring June 11, 2000, issued pursuant to the Unit
Purchase Agreement dated June 11, 1997,
10.13* Lease Agreement dated May 10, 1999 between Kennedy Center Partnership and the Company.
10.14* Lease Agreement dated May 10, 1999 between Kennedy Center Partnership and the Company.
10.15* 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
10.16* 1999 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.17* Employment Agreement dated as of April 12, 1999 between the Company and Charles P.
Schneider.
10.18%* Employment Agreement dated as of August 9, 1999 between the Company and Douglas H.
Kelsall.
10.19* Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement.
10.20* Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued October 21, 1999.
10.21* U.S. Department of Commerce Financial Assistance Award.

10.22%%** Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 12, 2001 between the Company and
Charles P. Schneider.

10.23#*** Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 12, 2001 between the Company and
Douglas H. Kelsall.

10.24%*** Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 5, 1999 between the Company
and Robert Haimes.

10.25%%%* Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 4, 1998 between the Company
and Mark Brodsky.

10.26%**%* Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 29, 2000 between the Company
and Nancy Roecker.
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Exhibit
Number

‘ Déscription

10.27*#*%**  Severance Agreement, as amended, dated as of July 3, 2001 between the Company and

Charles P. Schneider.

10.28+**%k%x  Employment Agreement dated as of July 31, 2001 between the Company and Steven P.

10.29

23.1

%%

*okx

K 2k KoK

HRkkk

okokok kg

sk Rk ok

Lindauer.

‘Employment Agreement dated as of January 7, 2002 between the Company and Dr. Edward O.
Gould.
Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-78365).

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14; 2001. '

(b) No reports on Form 8-K have been filed during the last quarter of the period covered by this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

eCollege.com

By: /s/  OAKLEIGH THORNE

Name: Oakleigh Thorne
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 25, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ OAKLEIGH THORNE

Name: Oakleigh Thorne
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 25, 2002

By: /s/ DoucLas H. KELSALL

Name: Douglas H. Kelsall
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer)
Date: March 25, 2002

By: /s/ 'Ward R. Huseth

Name: Ward R. Huseth, C.P.A.
Title: Chief Accounting Officer
Date: March 25, 2002

By: /s/  JACK W. BLUMENSTEIN

Name: Jack W. Blumenstein
Title: Director
Date: March 25, 2002

By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER E. GIRGENTI

Name: Christopher E. Girgenti
Title: Director
Date: March 25, 2002
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To eCollege.com:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of eCollege.com (a Delaware corporation) as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of eCollege.com as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

As explained in Note 3 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2000 the Company changed its
method of accounting for certain revenue.

/s/  ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Denver, Colorado,
February 5, 2002.

47



eCollege.com
BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS......c..ocvirecriiinieeni et
Available-for-sale SECUTIHES .......ivvveriiiieeiereecirrerve e e eeree et e esreessee s s srreeareens
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $172,845 and $160,200,

TESPECHIVELY ..ottt sttt e er e
Accrued revVenue TECEIVADIE ........ccvcvviiiieiiiire e eeeesesab et e sesrtneteneeesnrens
Notes receivable-Related Party .........ccocovivinerniiiiciin e
OLDET CUITENE ASSELS cvvviiivivrereereieeiirrreererureeesiresessneessnrenesssesesenessssssssnessessreesonsns

TOtal CUITENE ASSELS «.uvererierieeeeieetiiieererristieseee e sres bt eaeemeenesrean e ereseneneens

Property and eqUIPMENt, NEE .......ccvieirieiererreerreree e et e sa b ses

Notes receivable-Related Party ....ccc.covvverenreninvienrecern e e se e s e
Software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of $940,877 and

B0, TESPECLIVELY ....vcviiirire ettt sses s s s enes

OhET ASSELS..eviiuirresiiiiiiiii ittt e b re bbb s st s b

TOTAL ASSETS ..ot e b e st e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES: '
LiNE OF CTEAIL .econviieieseriieceee ettt st s et st stre e e e sabeseaae s s srneessessenesnes
ACCOUNLS PAYADIE ..ovieeeciiriier i
Capital lease Obligations .........cocveriiiiirinineni e
Other accrued HADIIHES ......ooocvvviiieiiieeeciieeeeeie et seiae e seeesssraeessareeerreessssranesnes
Deferred TEVENUE .....cveecvvieirieiecc ettt ettt ccre e reeetb e e e sressare s besaeessennesnnsen
Grant HabIlItIES .....ceeiviiiiiiirieeeceii e et r e sestrast i s cestseseesssbabasesentanssarrsesesasen

Total current HADIHIES ......ccovvveiereriiiei i eeeeece e sae e s e st e ee e nressnenes
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Capital lease oblIGations .......cccocveriiiiiicienie et
DEFEITEA FEVENUE ....oviiviiieeereees et ee et et se et e e s rtne s saeesesteessbe e eesrneeees
Other LHaDIIIES .ooovvi ettt etr e b st esseebes e sebeennesres

Total long-term Habilities .......ccoeriririincniiirie et
TOtAl HADIIIIES ....vovereveeniererrer ettt et ses et sa et e sese e ssos e e sassnnenbenens

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or
OULSEANING. ...ccveverinierieee e e er e s s bt se e e esbe b s
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 16,345,372
and 16,139,503 shares, respectively, issued and outstanding.............ccoeeennes
Additional paid-in CaPital.......ccceevveeiniiiri e
Warrants and options for common StOCK .......c.ceccviniciinineninininn s
Deferred cOmMPENSAtION. ........ceivereeriirererierercte e rereeesie s s esrsaeseseeresaeas e seemennens
Accumulated other comprehensive 108s.......cciviererneinn s
Accumulated defiCit........c.eevieiiirieieeririnne et s e e e e

Total StOCKhOLAETS™ EQUILY «...ovveviiiieniiricie ettt ene
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY .....cocoocoviiniiicrierininnne

December 31,

2001

2000

$ 16,625,705

$ 12,292,162

— 16,122,699
2,026,428 3,803,905
311,822 432,716
117,430 203,250
568,896 966,544
19,650,281 33,821,276
4,301,271 7,087,292
— 67,750
2,822,630 3,141,112
465,800 630,200

$ 27,239,982

$ 44,747,630

$ 2,500,000

$ 2,000,000

865,214 1,990,724
847,047 629,708
1,370,453 3,741,004
2,774359  3,839.275
2,615987 3,972,402
10,973,060 16,173,113
945,504 1,388,875
323,528 893,150
— 5,112
1,269,032 2,287,137
12,242,092 18,460,250
163,454 161,395
84,886,438 83,675,688
3,657,333 4,729272
(223,937)  (1,122,626)
— (7,549)
(73,485,398)  (61,148,800)
14,997,890 26,287,380

$ 27,239,982

$ 44,747,630

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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eCollege.com

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999

$ 7,037,442 § 2,300,111
4,325,430 1,949,880
1,176,598 400,827

12,539,470 4,650,818
12,650,533 10,381,390

(111,063)  (5,730,572)

7,133,497 2,255,562
10,586,595 7,242,939

9,434,181 5,929,810

2,570,408 —

29,724,681 15,428,311

(29,835,744) (21,158,883)

2,472,600 374,566

(317,439) (23,110)
(1,401) —

(27,681,984) (20,807,427)
(1,205,038) —

(28,887,022)  (20,807,427)

(7,549) —

$(28,894,571) $(20,807,427)

2001
REVENUE:

SEUAENE TEES .evvvvveeecereeierereeeeeierenesesreeesseneossteserrreensaseassssrssssesnsns $ 13,054,307

Campus and course development fees.........ccoocvveieevnnierinnnen 4,416,453

(01 11=) SRRTUTUUT O OO RUPTUOR TS ROUPOTUT SRR 2,375,767

TOLAl TEVENUE ... eeeeee i e eerteeesveesstreeereressnessaseeanans senens 19,846,527
COST OF REVENUE .....oooiotiiiertieeree ettt snesnee s e ecsaenenssenas 13,839,799

Gross profit (1088)......ccocevivrvmmiiiieinieiiie s 6,006,728
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Product development...........c.coccouenne e eenr e e —— e e s et enraearnen 4,809,576

Selling and marketing .........cccccouevinininiiriiienneceen e 7,147,317

General and admINIStTAIVE .....ooeevvveeeiriiierreeeernrereseivneeeseiveeees 6,717,781

Other general and administrative €Xpense........co.oovvvevvrunrevenees —

Total operating eXpenses........ocovvvierisievreiisiseeresnsseienenns 18,674,674
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS .......ocvivoiieieieireeeeneieneeriresreeseemsenins (12,667,946)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest and Other iNCOME ....cocviveveerriiiniiecerrcineniie e saeeineee 752,743

INEEIESE EXPENSE . euveuervceeiriririireriserireenstesistersstese et rsseetenessansnsrens (269,932)

OUhEr EXPENSE....coviverriirreririre st ers b (151,463)
NET LOSS BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE

IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE.......cccooiiicciaerarmaisissiesreaesienns (12,336,598)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............. —
NET LOSS oottt et st srvessasste s snaessesesseessesasssssanesiesanenns (12,336,598)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities............ 7,549
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ..ottt sennenes e ssessvnsnes s $(12,329,049)
NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS:

INEE LOSS . cuveereirietreere st e eeresteserees e tesssesseest e e srrasserssesessseeneennsstssn $(12,336,598)

Dividends on mandatorily redeemable, convertible preferred

SEOCK 1eeoviriiesieirtrietisiereeeesetneeeaee s enneeesansseee s s nras e s sbabanesesarnans —

Accretion of mandatorily redeemable, convertible preferred 7

SEOCK ovveereiniierie st seieeriesereeree e beeeessneseresabtesanesassnbessanernnenne —

$(28,887,022) $(20,807,427)
— (2,090,680)

— (327,099)

NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS... $(12,336,598)

$(28,887,022) $(23,225,206)

BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE BEFORE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLE........c.cooiveeinierereiesnirreresesenenensmstrsessssmessssessseseneasmsisns $ (0.76)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............. —

$ (1.76) $ (4.12)
07 —

BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE...............cov.... $ (0.76)

$ (1.83) $ 4.12)

PRO FORMA NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS (Note 3):
Pro forma net loss applicable to common stockholders .........

Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share ...........cc.ccoeeee.

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING-BASIC
AND DILUTED.....ccccotiitriiiniiiceniiiiiccnn s 16,219,174

$(23,404,459)
$ (4.15)

15,743,351 5,639,563

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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eCollege.com

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

INEE 0SS .. veiitiicirtc e e

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities—
DEPreciation ......covvereeiresrereninieert et
Loss on disposition Of @SSets .........ccocvveverereerninienenrerereerennnnnne
Provision for doubtful accounts...........ccceeveiveviiniirerneeeeneeene
Amortization of capitalized internal-use software development

COSBES 1ottt reeterertertereseeteseeeee et sse b et et esa et e eebe s be e stateneeremeeneneebeneae
Options for common stock issued in lieu of cash
COMIPENSALION.....veeirerretererreetsie st eneresststesesestesesaeresasnmesaeseeresesens

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation...................
Amortization of deferred financing costs .......cccveeveenviiicenineriinene

Changes in—
Accounts receivable and accrued revenue receivables ...............
Other CUITENE @SSELS......cceuireeiiererieiesereisiecetereeseeesr e e serabeneas
Other @SSeLS ...cuioriciiirirrireercr e s enis
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .........cccocovnviiiiinenee
Deferred reVenUe.........cooevieeiinineeiene et
Grant Habilities........ccvovvereecinirerenietenene e see s e e
Other Habilities......c.conrierniniiieienee et

Net cash used in operating activVities .........c.cceceeerccenerreennnens

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment............coovviveireereenncrencne
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment ...............
Purchases of marketable seCurities ..........cocovvevviicvnerercerernncnns
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities..........c.occeevevneneee.
Capitalized internal-use software development costs..................
Notes receivable issued to related parties .........ccoovecereerenrrnenene
Payments received on notes receivable from related parties ......

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ................

CASH FLLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common StocK .......c.ovevvvrvvvvreveerenn
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock........cccocevniiiinninnnen,
Payment of Stock 1SSUANCE COSIS....uvivivueieirierenrireerreereereneeeneenas
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions..........ccocceeeecvveciveecnne,
Payments on lease line of credit........c.ocevcvericerinncricrncennneeneas
" Proceeds from line of credit ........ccovvevivieiviirene e e
Payments on line of credit......c..cocovvieineiiniceninnicn
Proceeds from notes receivable for stock......ceevviiinriiniierneennnn.

Net cash provided by financing activities ...........cooeceiiiiceene.

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS....c.cttteereiirirenetereeisierensie s nesese s sresnessenenes
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year ..............

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year ...........oeoeuu.

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION:
Cash paid for INterest........cccovcviiivieiie i

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2001

2000

1999

$(12,336,598) $(28,887,022) $(20,807,427)

3467764 2701852  1201.869
461 — —
100,000 115,400 35,000
940,877 _ _
_ 2,570,408 _
704363 1191142 1019771
— 186,329 8,072
1798371 (2716001)  (1,354,065)
397648 (677913)  (362.875)
164,400 164,300 (630.100)
(3,496.061) 869307  3.574.721
(1634538) 2301261 1861565
(1356415) 1534347 2438055
(5.112) (17.673) (13.115)
(11.254.840) (20.664.263) (13.028.529)
(704.866)  (5235483)  (4,186,401)
22,662 _ —
(5,998.788)  (36,003,376) _
22129036 19.873.128 —
(622.395)  (3.141.112) —
— (416.000) _
108,765 145.000 _
14934414 (24,777.843)  (4.186.401)
380,001 7,201,123 55,506,698
s = 2,250,000
— (386,705)  (5.895.280)
455432 2244057 -
(681.464)  (225.474) _
7360050 2,000,000 2,050,000
(6.860.050) = (2/050,000)
— 593.593 —
653960 11426504  51.861.418
4333543 (34015512) 34,646,488
12202162 46.307.674  11.661.186

$ 16,625,705

$12,292,162 $ 46,307,674

$ 269,932

$ 132,512 %

10,933




eCollege.com

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Organization and Nature of Business

Company History

eCollege.com (“eCollege” or the “Company,” formerly Real Education, Inc. and Real Information
Systems, Inc.) was organized and incorporated in the state of Colorado on July 26, 1996. The Company
reincorporated in the State of Delaware on June 22, 1999, at which time each share of Real Education, Inc.
common and preferred stock was exchanged for seven shares of eCollege common and preferred stock,
respectively.

Business Activity

eCollege is a leading provider of technology and services that enable colleges, universities, primary and
high schools and corporations to offer an online environment for distance and on-campus learning. The
Company’s technology enables its customers to reach a large number of students who wish to take online courses
at convenient times and locations. Customers can also use the Company’s technology to supplement their on-
campus courses with an online environment. Additionally, the Company offers services to assist in the
development of online programs, including online course and campus design, development, management and
hosting, as well as ongoing administration, faculty, instructor and student support.

Operating and Business Risks

The Company is subject to various risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in the early
stages of development, particularly companies in the rapidly evolving market for Internet-based products and
services. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, its limited operating history, evolving and
unpredictable technology and market demands and the management of rapid growth. To address these risks, the
Company must, among other things, maintain and increase its customer base, implement and successfully execute
its business and marketing strategies, continue to develop and upgrade its technology, provide superior customer
service and attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. There can be no guarantee that the Company will be
successful in addressing such risks.

The Company’s current business plan contemplates continued growth, and the Company believes that for
the year ended December 31, 2002 it will most likely experience operating losses and may generate negative
cash flows from operating and investing activities. The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $16,625,705
at December 31, 2001, which the Company believes is sufficient to fund its operations at least through December
31, 2002.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions may
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers investments in highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90
days or less to be cash equivalents. Such investments are held in money market accounts, certificates of deposit
or available-for-sale securities.

Available-for-Sale Securities

Debt securities that the Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity and are reported at amortized cost. Debt and equity securities that are bought and held
principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading securities and reported at fair
value, with the unrealized gains and losses included in earnings. Debt and equity securities not classified as either
held-to-maturity securities or trading securities are classified as available-for-sale securities and reported at fair
value, with unrealized gains or losses excluded from earnings and reported as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company realized net losses
totaling $159,193 and $1,401, during 2001 and 2000, respectively, in connection with sales of available-for-sale
securities.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company held no available-for-sale securities. The Company’s available-for-
sale securities at December 31, 2000 consisted of debt securities of United States government agencies, corporate
bonds and commercial paper, and were reported at fair value. The fair market value of these securities
approximated their amortized cost.

Available-for-sale securities are summarized below.

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized

December 31, 2000: Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Commercial PAPET ......cceci it $ 3,833,130 $§ — $ 2,738 § 3,830,392
Corporate bonds ... 9,385,898 6,003 17,522 9,374,379
Corporate floating rate bonds...........ccovceriererevniienecnnen, 1,502,091 807 —_ 1,502,898
Debt securities issued by United States government

AZEINICIES Lovveeririe et rteeee et eteb et sr e e see e enr e ene 1,409,129 5,901 — 1,415,030
TOtAL.ceeeviiiieie ettt ettt e eae e en s $16,130,248 $12,711  $20,260 $16,122,699

Accounts Receivable

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the expected collection of accounts
receivable. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $172,845 and $160,200,
respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale securities and accounts receivable. The Company has
no significant off-balance sheet concentrations of credit risk, such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts
or other foreign currency hedging arrangements. The Company maintains its cash balances in the form of bank
demand deposits and money market accounts with financial institutions that management believes are credit
worthy. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from transactions with and from educational
institutions primarily located in the United States. Accordingly, the Company may be exposed to credit risk
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

generally associated with educational institutions. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers and maintains reserves for potential credit losses. The Company historically has not had significant
write-offs of accounts receivable.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and depreciation is provided using the straight-line
method, generally over estimated useful lives of three to five years. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred and major additions, replacements and improvements are capitalized. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful lives or the life of the related lease.

The components of property and equipment are as follows:

2001 2000
COMPULET EQUIPIMENLE ...c.veveverirrerrecerseerrererese e trteseresterasetrasseesesseesesssseseassenseseeserasasenens $ 8,021,095 $ 7,749,810
PUrchased SOftWATE. .........ioiieriiiiere et rerre e cebte e e e erb e e stbe e s tressebsae e sarnarenresens 1,999,040 1,609,479
Office furniture and EQUIPIIENL..........coccceririrrrereeie e seeet e serseesae e eseesereanennens 1,300,520 1,299,521
Leasehold IMPIOVEMENLS. ......cviecvieerecicerreieet e eecereteraesreseeretesneseesseeresesessbesaneenersnenses 856,585 845,451
12,177,240 11,504,261
Less: Accumulated depreCiation .........ccoceviiiviviiirericreeeieesee et e e ssecaevessnrsne e seseaasasas (7,875,969) (4,416,969)

$ 4,301,271  $ 7,087,292

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $3,467,764, $2,701,852
and $1,201,869, respectively.

Software Development Costs

The Company follows the provisions of the AICPA’s Statement of Position (“SOP’’) 98-1, *““Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” Pursuant to SOP 98-1, costs incurred
during the application development stage are capitalized and costs incurred during the preliminary project and
the post-implementation stages are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software development costs are amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally three years. Amortization begins when
the products are ready for their intended use.

On April 1, 2000, the Company began capitalizing costs related to development of its CampusPortal
product. Through March 31, 2001, the Company had capitalized $3,763,507 of total costs related to development
of the CampusPortal product. In April 2001, the software was determined to be ready for its intended use and
the Company began amortizing these costs over the estimated useful life of three years. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $940,877 of amortization expense. Excluding the costs associated
with the development of the CampusPortal product, since January 1, 1999 internal costs incurred during the
application development stage in connection with enhancements and upgrades to the Company’s internal-use
software have been immaterial, due primarily to the short period of time between the preliminary project and
post-implementation stages. In addition, the estimated useful lives of such enhancements and upgrades are
deemed to be short. Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized any costs associated with these efforts, and
has expensed them as Product Development as incurred.

The Company also develops software tools and services for use by its personnel that are either currently
also marketed to third parties or for which the Company has a substantive plan to market such software. Costs
for the development of such software are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Standards (“SFAS”’) No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed.” SFAS No. 86 requires the capitalization of certain software development costs subsequent to the
establishment of technological feasibility. The Company’s software is deemed to be technologically feasible at
the point a working model of the software product is developed. Through December 31, 2001, for products
developed by the Company and marketed to third parties, the period from attainment of technological feasibility
to general release has been brief and qualifying costs were not significant. Accordingly, the Company has not
capitalized any such qualifying software development costs in the accompanying financial statements.

Realization of the Company’s capitalized software development costs is dependent upon generating revenue
from the related software products and services during the useful life of such capitalized software. It is
reasonably possible that a review of the recorded amount of capitalized software development costs in the future
could indicate that they are impaired, and the amount of impairment could be significant. Additionally,
technology used by the Company and its customers can be subject to significant changes as new technology and
software products are introduced into the marketplace by others. Because of the volatility of the technological
environment, it is reasonably possible that a change in technology strategy by the Company could result in a
conclusion that all or a portion of the recorded balance is impaired.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company evaluates the recoverability
of its long-lived assets based on estimated undiscounted future cash flows and provides for impairment if such
undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. At December 31,
2001, the Company’s management believes that there is no impairment of the Company’s long-lived assets.

Income Taxes

The current provision for income taxes represents actual or estimated amounts payable on tax return filings
each year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the estimated future tax effects of temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the accompanying balance
sheets, and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the period measures the deferred tax provision or benefit for the period. Effects of changes in enacted tax laws
on deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected as adjustments to the tax provision or benefit in the period of
enactment. The Company’s deferred tax assets have been completely reduced by a valuation allowance because
management does not believe realization of the deferred tax assets is sufficiently assured at each balance sheet
date (see Note 10).

Grant Program

The Company implemented a Grant Program in late 1999 designed to assist new and existing customers by
increasing the quality and number of online courses they offer and the number of students pursuing online
degrees. Seventy-two grants were awarded, at the Company’s discretion, to institutions based on demonstrated
commitment to a quality online degree program, the number of current and potential students, the college or
university’s unique approach to online learning and other factors. The Company does not anticipate offering new
grant awards.

Funds granted consist of both marketing funds and educational support funds. Marketing funds are
reimbursed to customers based on demonstration of payment for approved marketing activities. These expenses
are recorded as marketing expenses when it is estimated they are incurred by customers, and the Company has
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

incurred the reimbursement obligation. Educational support funds consist of faculty stipends and technology and
travel funds, and are considered contract costs. To date, the Company has granted approximately $7.5 million,
which consists of $1.7 million in marketing funds and $5.8 million in educational support funds. Pursuant to the
terms of the grants, funds are paid to grant recipients after they have provided evidence of payment for
appropriate expenditures. Customer expenditures for the Company’s services are not considered reimbursable
under terms of the grants. Reimbursements for marketing expenditures totaled $802,199 and $140,436 during
the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
disbursements under the Grant Program of $2,675,306 and $889,299 were made for costs such as faculty stipends
to encourage the generation of digital course content and hardware technology purchases.

If contract costs, including appropriate educational support funds, are in excess of the revenue guaranteed
under the related agreement, such excess is accrued in Grant Liabilities and expensed in the quarter in which the
excess is first identified. For the year ending December 31, 1999, the Company recognized such a loss of
$2,438,055. As the Company recognizes course development revenue under these contracts, the grant loss
accrual is reduced such that the gross margin related to this revenue is zero. The grant loss accrual was reduced
by $1,207,570 and $954,886 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remaining
estimated grant loss accrual at December 31, 2001 is $275,599 and is included in Grant Liabilities on the
accompanying balance sheet. The determination of the grant loss requires management to make estimates and
assumptions regarding the total amount of costs to be incurred. These estimates and assumptions may change
and affect the reported amounts of the estimated liability on the date of the financial statements and the reported
amount of expenses during the reporting period. As contracts are completed, actual results could impact reported
amount of expense in the current reporting period. The Company recorded $1,586,870, $1,461,978 and
$2,438,055 of expenses related to educational support, net of any reduction of the grant loss accrual, for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These expenses are included in the Cost of Revenue in
the accompanying statements of operations.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in sales and marketing expense in the
accompanying statements of operations. Market development costs associated with the Company’s Grant
Program are recorded over the period that the Company’s customers incur reimbursable marketing and
advertising expenses and meet the reporting requirements to receive reimbursements of these funds. Marketing
expenses related to the Company’s Grant Program were $321,000 and $1,253,725 in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
There were no advertising or marketing costs recognized in 1999 related to the Company’s Grant Program.
Advertising expense for each of the periods presented in the accompanying statements of operations, excluding
marketing expenses associated with the Company’s Grant Program, is as follows:

For the Year Ended

__December 31, __Amount
2001 ittt et er e b e e b et et s e be et et be s aenbentsennesrrarean $ 344,573
2000 ..ttt bbb e e e s bt s e e st e b e e et e e bbe s e bee st e sreeeraeaneen $1,250,144
TO09 .. ettt ettt e et e tb e b sra e sabe b e ebe e raes et beeareeanas $1,412,943

During 1999, the Company paid $822,000 to a third party to provide the Company advertising and other
services. The Company has deferred the $822,000 payment and is expensing the cost as services are provided
over the five-year term of the agreement. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, $465,800 and $630,200,
respectively, of these prepaid expenses were included in other assets and $164,400, $163,900 and $27,900 was
expensed in the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its employee stock option plans and other employee stock-based compensation
arrangements in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ““Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB Opinion No. 25”), and related interpretations. The Company applies the
disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” which allows
entities to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 for transactions with employees and provide
pro forma disclosures for employee stock grants as if the fair-value-based method of accounting in SFAS No.
123 had been applied to these transactions. The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to non-
employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 and related interpretations.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders for the period
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss per share is
computed by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average number of common and potential
common shares outstanding during the period if the effect of the potential common shares is dilutive. The
equivalent number of common stock shares excluded from the earning per share calculation because the effect of
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive, using the treasury stock method, were 27,844, 111,538 and 993,433 for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. As a result of the Company’s net losses, all
potentially dilutive securities as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, as indicated in the table below, would be
anti-dilutive and are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share.

December 31,
) 2001 2000 1999
Stock Options.........ccceceereeennne Erteetee st e e taneretarsaeeerrenson 2,724,353 3,203,822 2.7241,156
WAITAIES ...t cee ettt e eee e eaneeaes e s 37,000 77,185 716,518
Restricted common StOCK....oovvvvivieiiirieeriniiiressnireeeeceenas 50,000 — —
Total....ccoviiieiie, ettt et 2,811,353 3,371,007 2,957,674

The Company has never paid cash dividends on its stock, and is currently precluded from doing so under
its borrowing agreements.

Segment Information

The Company has determined that it has one reportable operating segment at December 31, 2001. All of
the Company’s operating results and identifiable assets are in the United States.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes all changes in stockholders’ equity from non-owner sources. Total
comprehensive loss was $12,329,049 and $28,894,571 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, and is the same as net loss for the year ended December 31, 1999. Adjustments to the Company’s
net loss to derive comprehensive loss are comprised of changes in net unrealized gains and losses on the
Company’s available-for-sale securities..

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”’) issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and  Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). In accordance with an amendment
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subsequently issued in 1999, the Company was required to adopt SFAS No. 133 effective January 1, 2001. To
date, the Company has not entered into any arrangements that would fall under the scope of SFAS No. 133, and
therefore the adoption of SFAS No. 133 has not had an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”"). SFAS No.
141 addresses financial accounting and reporting for business combinations. SFAS No. 141 is effective for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, and for all business combinations accounted for under the
purchase method initiated before but completed after June 30, 2001. In addition, in June 2000 the FASB issued
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (‘“SFAS No. 142”"). SFAS No. 142 addresses financial
accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001, and applies to all goodwill and other intangibles recognized in the
financial statements at that date. The adoption of these standards is not expected to have an impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations. However, any business combinations initiated from this
point forward and the subsequent accounting of those combinations will be impacted by these two standards.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” This statement supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of” and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion
No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” This statement applies to
recognized long-lived assets of an entity to be held and used or to be disposed of. This statement does not apply
to goodwill, intangible assets not being amortized, financial instruments, and deferred tax assets. This statement
requires an impairment loss to be recorded for assets to be held and used when the carrying amount of a long-
lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. An asset that is classified as held-for-sale shall be
recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. The Company is required to adopt this
statement during the first quarter of 2002. The company does not believe that this statement will materially
impact its results of operations.

In April and July 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on two issues within
Issue No. 00-25, “Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid to a Reseller of the Vendor’s
Products” (“EITF 00-25”). EITF 00-25 was subsequently codified along with other related EITF issues into
EITF Issue No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by Vendor or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products”
(“EITF 01-09”). Among other issues, EITF 01-09 addresses whether consideration from a vendor to a reseller
of the vendor’s products is (a) an adjustment of the selling prices of the vendor’s products and, therefore, should
be deducted from revenue when recognized in the vendor’s income statement or (b) a cost incurred by the vendor
for assets or services received from the reseller and, therefore, should be included as a cost or an expense when
recognized in the vendor’s income statement. The Company has historically accounted for payments under its
Grant Program as costs of revenue or operating expenses in its income statement. The Company is currently
evaluating EITF 01-09 and is in the process of determining the impact EITF 01-09 will have on its income
statement classifications, if any. If it is determined that EITF 01-09 impacts the Company’s financial statements,
the Company is required to adopt EITF 01-09 for financial statements presented for periods beginning after
December 15, 2001, and financial statements for prior periods presented for comparative purposes would be
reclassified to comply with the income statement classification requirements of EITF 01-09.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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(3) Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue primarily from three sources: (i) student enrollment fees, (ii) campus
development, licensing and hosting services, and (iii) course development services.

The Company’s services are generally sold at fixed prices as set forth in customer contracts. The Company
earns student fee revenue when students enroll in online courses hosted by the Company for its customers at an
agreed upon price. The Company also sells student technology licenses which allow for up to a specified number
of student enrollments in online course supplements over a specified period of time, typically one year.
Customers are typically charged for annual license and hosting fees as well as initial design and development
services fees for an online campus. Design and development services fees to build online courses are also
specified in contracts. Frequently, customers will add online courses in addition to those purchased under the
initial contract. Annual maintenance fees to manage the online campus during the term of the agreement and
other service fees, including online campus implementation, faculty training and support, evaluation and
technical consulting services and instructional design services, may also be included in customer contracts.

The Company’s student fee revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over each course’s specific
academic term or over the length of the student technology license purchased by a customer, depending upon
contract terms. Campus set-up, design and development fees are generally received near the start of each contract
term, deferred, and recognized on a straight-line basis from the campus launch date through the end of the
contract period or the expected life of the customer relationship, whichever is greater. The average recognition
period for campus set-up, design and development fees is slightly less than three years. Annual fees for campus
licenses, hosting and maintenance services are recognized on a straight-line basis over 12 months. Course
development fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over 12 months from the date the course is ordered by
the customer, which approximates the period over which the Company’s services are provided. The 12-month
period may change in the future based upon the Company’s experience of providing such services. The Company
is in the process of re-evaluating this period, and expects that it may decrease in the future, resulting in revenue
being recognized over a shorter period of time. Changes in our contract terms and expected contract life may
also affect the period over which development fees are recognized.

Revenue that is recognized is reflected as accrued revenue receivable to the extent that the customer has not
yet been billed for such services. The Company records deferred revenue for amounts received from or billed to
customers in excess of the revenue that has been earned.

In December 1999, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”"), “Revenue Recognition
in Financial Statements.” In March 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a consensus on Issue No.
00-3, “Application of AICPA SOP 97-2, ‘Software Revenue Recognition,” to Arrangements That Include the
Right to Use Software Stored on Another Entity’s Hardware” (“EITF 00-3"). The Company’s agreements with
customers typically do not qualify as sales of software under the provisions of EITF 00-3, and as such, the
Company is required to utilize service accounting.

The Company was required to adopt SAB 101 and EITF 00-3 in 2000. As required by SAB 101, the
Company has accounted for the implementation of the revenue recognition guidelines of SAB 101 as a change
in accounting principle effective January 1, 2000. The financial statements as of and for the period ended
December 31, 2000, presented herein, refiect this change. Effective January 1, 2000, the Company recorded a
cumulative adjustment of $1,205,038, or $.07 per share, for the change in accounting principle. The amount of
revenue recognized in 1999, 1998 and 1997 that was included in this cumulative adjustment was $179,253,
$590,186 and $435,599, respectively. The impact in the year ended December 31, 2000 of adopting SAB 101
was to increase net loss, before the cumulative effect of accounting change, by $1,120,296. Excluding the impact
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of the change, basic and diluted net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2000, before the cumulative
effect of accounting change, would have been $1.69.

In October 1998, the Company was awarded a grant of approximately $1,900,000 by the National Institute
of Standards and Technology, or NIST, a department of the U.S. Department of Commerce. This revenue is
recognized as the work is performed by the Company or its subcontractors. The Company is entitled to receive
payments under the grant as research related to automated course content creation and organization, and tutoring
delivery systems is performed. Maximum payments under the grant which expired in January 2002 are
$1,859,000. The Company was granted an extension until April 2002 to complete the necessary documentation
of its research. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized revenue of
$808,907, $500,762 and $348,962, respectively, related to the grant.

(4) Convertible Preferred Stock Subject to Mandatory Redemption

Under the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock. Shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, with
designations, rights, preferences and limitations established by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Through March 1999, the Company issued a total of 4,150,402 shares of convertible preferred stock subject
to mandatory redemption. In connection with the Company’s IPO in December 1999, all outstanding shares of
preferred stock were automatically converted on a one-for-one basis to common stock. Up until the date of
conversion of the preferred stock, the differences between the redemption price and the recorded value, which
was net of the offering costs of $29,850, $22,000, and $811,065 for Series A, Series B and Series C, respectively,
were being accreted to the earliest possible redemption date. Dividends accrued at an annual rate of ten-percent
of the face value of the preferred stock, whether or not they had been declared, were cumulative, and to the
extent there were unpaid dividends, dividends were payable on such unpaid dividends. Upon the conversion of
the preferred stock, the accrued and unpaid dividends were extinguished.

(5) Stockholders’ Equity

Initial Public Offering

The Company sold 5,000,000 shares of its common stock for $11.00 per share in its initial public offering,
which was effective on December 15, 1999. Net proceeds to the Company aggregated to $51,150,000. In January
2000, the Company received net proceeds of $5,115,000 from the exercise of 500,000 shares of the underwriters’
over-allotment option. The amount received was net of underwriting offering expenses. Upon the effectiveness
of the initial public offering, the Company effected a two-for-three stock split, which has been reflected
retroactively in the accompanying financial statements.

Stock Splits

Upon the reincorporation of the Company, the Company effected a seven-for-one split of its common and
preferred stock, and changed its authorized common stock to 50,000,000 shares and preferred stock to 5,000,000
shares. Additionally, upon the completion of its initial public offering the Company effected a two-for-three
reverse stock split adjusting the shares authorized to retain authority to issue 50,000,000 and 5,000,000 shares of
common and preferred stock, respectively. All references in the accompanying financial statements to the number
of common and preferred shares have been retroactively restated to reflect the stock splits and the increase in the
authorized common and preferred stock.
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1999 Stock Purchase Plan

The 1999 Stock Purchase Plan (the ‘“‘Purchase Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved
by the stockholders in June 1999. The Purchase Plan became effective December 15, 1999. The Purchase Plan is
designed to allow the Company’s eligible employees to purchase shares of common stock, at semi-annual
intervals, with their accumulated payroll deductions. The Company has reserved 666,667 shares of common
stock for issuance under the Purchase Plan. Eligible employees are individuals scheduled to work more than 20
hours per week for more than five calendar months per year. The Purchase Plan will have a series of successive
offering periods, each with a maximum duration of 24 months. The initial offering period started December 15,
1999 and ended on the last business day of October 2001. The next offering period started on the first business
day in November 2001, and subsequent offering periods will be set by the compensation committee. Under the
Purchase Plan, eligible employees may contribute up to 15 percent of his or her cash earnings through payroll
deductions, and the accumulated deductions will be applied to the purchase of shares on each semi-annual
purchase date. The purchase price per share will be equal to 85 percent of the fair market value per share on the
participant’s entry date into the offering period oz, if lower, 85 percent of the fair market value per share on the
semi-annual purchase date. Semi-annual purchase dates will occur on the last business day of April and October
of each year. In no event, however, may any participant purchase more than 1,000 shares on any purchase date,
and not more than 166,667 shares may be purchased in total by all participants on any purchase date.

The Company has elected to apply APB Opinion No. 25 ““Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as
amended by FASB Interpretation No. 44, in accounting for its stock-based plans. Accordingly, the Company will
not recognize compensation expense for employee stock purchases. The Company issued 71,312 and 52,794
shares of common stock in April and October 2001, respectively, with respect to the Purchase Plan, at a per
share price of $2.38 and $2.38, respectively, representing 85% of the fair market value as described above. In
April and October 2000, the Company issued 82,165 and 53,470 shares of common stock, respectively, with
respect to the Purchase Plan, at a per share price of $4.99 and $4.99, respectively, representing 85% of the fair
market value as described above.

Employee Stock Option Grants

In September 1999 the Company adopted the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan’’). The Plan is intended
to serve as the successor equity incentive program to the Company’s 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Plan™).
All outstanding options under the 1997 Pian were incorporated into the 1999 Plan, and no further option grants
will be made under the 1997 Plan. All information disclosed below for the period from January 1, 1999 through
December 31, 2001, includes options issued under the Plan and the 1997 Plan (collectively, the “Plans”).
Options granted vest over various terms, with a maximum vesting period of five years, and expire after a
maximum of ten years. At December 31, 2001, the Company was authorized to grant incentive and non-qualified
stock options to acquire up to 4,782,570 shares of the Company’s common stock to employees and directors of
the Company. The Company accounts for options granted under the Plans under APB Opinion No. 25, under
which the Company has recorded deferred compensation of $162,071, $0 and $2,696,089 during 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively, that is being amortized to expense over the vesting period of the associated stock options.
Compensation expense recognized that relates to the unvested portion of forfeited options, if any, is reversed at
the time of forfeiture. During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized $704,363, $1,191,142, and
$1,019,771 of compensation expense, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the Plans at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and activity during the

years then ended.

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Shares
Qutstanding, December 31, 1998 ..o e 871,967
GIANIEA .. ..ottt ettt s se st e et e se b eaeeesestatasesssrnnsaessasons 1,838,113
Forfeited or canceled ............ocovviieeiciiniiieccniecie et smreas (71,098)
EXEICISEA.....eiiiiiiciiecrie ettt e be et eaaesaneeeve fovens (449,158)
Outstanding, December 31, 1999 .....c.ccoiviiiiiinniiieccee e 2,189,824
L€ 2111 T« U U U UOTOTOTE SN 952,275
Forfeited or canceled ..........oovimirerienieninieninnie e esee e eas (643,621)
EXEICISEA ... ..eiiioiiiiiivireeerierie sttt cieeeesteesetse e eeareesetaasenbeessnnbassenrananans (210,462)
Outstanding, December 31, 2000 .......ccccooieiinieicnininieneeeerneeeee e 2,288,016
L6 2111 1To NOR O RTROTOPURPRN 671,486
Forfeited Or CancCeled .......vcviiviiiiiee et ettt seee e e e (1,192,483)
EXEICISEA ... ..ottt et serae e s e s seae s s srresstneeanenes (46,698)
Outstanding, December 31, 2001 ......ccccovvrvirierieniiiie e eeereereseeseererens 1,720,321

$1.81
8.28
3.88
1.69

$7.19
494
7.60
1.96

$6.62
3.77
6.70
2.33

$5.57

As of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 697,641, 579,390 and 224,979 of the above options were

exercisable, respectively, with weighted average exercise prices of $6.80, $7.12, and $2.97

, respectively.

The following table summarizes the weighted average exercise prices of options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. The table includes options for common stock whose exercise price
was less than the fair market value, for financial reporting purposes, of the underlying common stock at the date

of grant and equal to or greater than the fair market value at the date of grant.

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Exercise price-Less than fair market value:

NUMDET Of OPLONS ..c.vvvvveriteriet ettt et 5,555 — 438,890

Weighted average eXercise PriCe .......oooviviiiiiiiinieeeccnereneniieenniinsnens $ 135 % — 8 6.00

Weighted average fair value of OPONS.......cccooovveeriiivnineiin $ 292 % — S 6.75
Equal to fair market value:

NUMDBEL Of OPHIONS ..ooveineiiienieinreicee et sebe e 495,931 952275 1,399,223

Weighted average eXerciSe PriCe ....ooevevereerrerermineeemererieennsesseseeresserens $§ 360 $ 494 S 9.00

Weighted average fair value of Options........ccoceeeveiiicnievnvecnineenenienne $ 192 $ 276 S 0.91
Greater than fair market value:

NUumber of OPHIONS .....ccccrviiiereriiririni e et 170,000 — —

Weighted average eXercise PriCe .......ococevvineenniiinienoeneeieneeseercseneene $ 436 § — $ —

Weighted average fair value Of OPHONS ...c.ccovvvveirivirice e $ 1003 — § —
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The status of stock options outstanding and exercisable under the Plans as of December 31, 2001 is as
follows:

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Number of Remaining Weighted Average  Number  Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Exercise Price Of Shares Exercise Price
$0.00-81.35....criiecee, 5,555 9.0 $1.35 5,092 $1.35
$2.14-83.19 .. 469,320 8.7 $2.80 129,337 $2.59
$3.60-85.38.....ccieieevee e, 434,775 7.5 $4.28 54,644 $3.99
$5.81-88.00.....ccciiieiieieciera. 319,092 8.5 $6.15 139,941 $6.14
$8.94-810.94.......ccocvivieei 491,579 7.8 $9.02 368,627 $9.01
1,720,321 8.1 $5.57 697,641 $6.80

In addition, during March 1997 the Company issued options for 51,332 shares of common stock outside of
the Plans with an exercise price of $0.59. All such options vested over a two year period from March 1997 to
March 1999. All of these options were exercised in March 2000.

During July 2000 the Company issued options for 5,806 shares of common stock outside of the Plans with
an exercise price of $1.29. All such options vested immediately. The Company accounted for these options in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 and accordingly recorded $15,009 of compensation expense, based on the
then current fair market value of the common stock, at the time of their issuance. As of December 31, 2001,
5,806 options were outstanding and exercisable.

Pro Forma Fair Value Disclosures

SFAS No. 123 defines a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. An
entity may continue to measure compensation cost for options granted to employees using the intrinsic value-
based method prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, provided that pro forma disclosures are made of net income
or loss, assuming the fair value-based method of SFAS No. 123 has been applied.

The Company has elected to account for its stock-based employee compensation plans under APB Opinion
No. 25. Accordingly, for purposes of the pro forma disclosures presented below, the Company has computed the
fair values of all options granted during 2001, 2000 and 1999 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and
the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
RISK-ATEE INEETESE TALE ...c.ouirerireeceirirrec ettt e e 3.3% 5.1% 5.5%
Expected dividend yield.......cccocoiiriiniininiiniiriietni e e 0% 0% 0%
Expected lives OULStANAING ......ccooririrceieiriariiaeianteraceieasessreeseeseasesrsssesssassasasenses 2.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years
EXpected VOLAULILY ..c.vocvvereeie ittt s seb et sne s e s s saeasesreesae s 101% 82% 0.001%

The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $1.70, $2,76 and $2.30,
respectively.

Through the date of the IPO, the Company used the minimum value method of the Black-Scholes option
pricing model for determining the fair value of options issued to employees which uses a volatility of 0.001%.
Subsequent to the date of the IPO, the Company used a weighted average volatility of 101% and 82% for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Cumulative compensation cost recognized in pro forma
net income or loss with respect to options that are forfeited prior to vesting is adjusted as a reduction of pro
forma compensation expense in the period of forfeiture.
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The fair value of each purchase right under the Purchase Plan is estimated, for pro forma disclosure
purposes, on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2000
RISK-1TE8 INTETEST TALE ....coviiiiiieriiie sttt et r bt st e e n et en e e s 3.25% 5.13%
Expected dividend yield.........coovviriiiiiii e 0% 0%
Expected [ives outStanding .......ccvcieiiririeriiniiiiiiee et e et 6 months 6 months
ExXpected VOLAILILY «..ccoovieiiiiiiiiiiiee et et et 101% 82%

The weighted average fair value of the right to purchase those shares issued in 2001 was $1.20 and $1.21
per share, respectively. In 2000 the weighted average fair value was $5.01 and $2.27 per share, respectively.

The total fair value of the options granted to employees was computed to be $1,137,950, $2,623,518 and
$4,209,923 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Pro forma stock-based
compensation for stock options, net of the amounts recorded for amortization of deferred compensation and the
effect of forfeitures, was $1,749,995, $796,234 and $352,600 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively, and for the Purchase Plan was $121,110 and $290,599 for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

If the Company had accounted for all of its stock-based compensation plans in accordance with SFAS No.
123, the Company’s net loss would have been reported as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Net loss applicable to common stockholders:
AS 1ePOIted ... ettt bbb $(12,336,598) $(28,887,022) $(23,225,206)
Pro fOrma.. ..o $(14,207,703) $(29,973,855) $(23.577,306)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:
AS TEPOTLEd ...ttt $ 0.76) $ (1.83) $ (4.12)
PrO fOrMA. ... viiiviiiiiiiiectiiit ettt st e $ (0.88) $ (1.90) $ (4.18)

Option Grants to Officers

In July 2001, Mr. Charles P. Schneider’s employment with the Company terminated. Mr. Schneider served
as the Company’s Chief Operating Officer since June of 1999 and as the Company’s President since November
of 2000. The Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Schneider at the time of his hiring (the
“Agreement”’). On July 2, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors’ Compensation Committee awarded Mr.
Schneider options to purchase up to 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s 1999
Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Schneider’s services to the Company and his consent to extend
the non-competition provisions of the Agreement. These options have a 5 year term, were fully vested at the
award date and are exercisable on July 2, 2002. The exercise price of the option grant is $5.00 per share. On
July 2, 2001, the Company recorded stock-based deferred compensation of $147,000, based upon the fair market
value of the option grant on that date, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The deferred
compensation cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the twelve month period of the non-competition
agreement following Mr. Schneider’s termination of employment.

On June 21, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors’ Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Douglas
Kelsall, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
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under the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as consideration for Mr. Kelsall’s services to the Company and
his consent to terminate a previous option grant issued in 1999 for the option to purchase 50,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $9.00, the quoted market price of the Company’s common
stock at the date of grant. One third of the shares will vest on June 21, 2002, the one year anniversary of the
award, and the balance will vest in 24 successive equal monthly installments beginning in July 2002, provided
Mr. Kelsall continues in employment with the Company. Dividends will be payable on the shares if, and to the
extent, paid on the Company’s common stock generally. The Company recorded stock-based deferred
compensation cost of $142,500, equal to the fair market value of the restricted common stock on June 21, 2001.
The deferred compensation cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis through July 2, 2004.

Mr. Qakleigh Thorne was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on May 30, 2000 and serves as Chairman
of the Board. In lieu of salary, benefits and other compensation, the Company granted an investment fund
affiliated with Mr. Thorne fully vested options to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. Of these, options for 200,000 shares have an exercise price of $3.875, the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of the grant; options for 200,000 shares have an exercise price of $3.875,
based on the Company having met certain stock price performance criteria;, and options for the remaining
600,000 shares have an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which can be adjusted to $3.875 based on certain
stock price performance criteria.

In the third quarter of 2000, the Company recorded the fair market value, based upon an independent
valuation, of these non-employee options granted to the investment fund of $2,570,408 as compensation expense.
This amount is reflected as Other General and Administrative expense in the accompanying statements of
operations.

Warrants

In October 1999, the Company obtained a $2,500,000 line of credit from a bank. In connection with the
line of credit, the Company issued warrants to the bank to acquire 30,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock at an exercise price of $11.00, equal to the offering price of common stock sold in connection with the
Company’s initial public offering. The estimated fair market value of the warrants at the date of issuance was
approximately $172,200. The warrants were valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model, assuming
volatility of 75%, a risk-free interest rate of 5%, no expected dividends, a contractual life of three years and
$11.00 as the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of issuance. As of December 31,
2001 all of these warrants remain outstanding.

In November 1998, the Company obtained a $500,000 line of credit from a bank. In connection with the
line of credit, the Company issued warrants to the bank to purchase 7,000 shares of common stock. Fifty-percent
of the warrants have a strike price of $3.93 and fifty-percent have a strike price of $7.47. The estimated fair
market value of the warrants at the date of issuance was approximately $28,000, which was included in interest
expense in 1998. The warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model, assuming volatility of 70%,
risk-free interest rate of 5.0%, no expected dividends and a life of five years. As of December 31, 2001 all of
these warrants remain outstanding.

In connection with the sale of Series C preferred stock in December 1998, the Company issued warrants to
purchase 40,185 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of approximately $7.47 per share.
Upon issuance, the warrants had an estimated fair market value totaling $155,065, which has been reflected as a
cost of the offering. In addition, the Company incurred $656,000 of direct costs in connection with the issuance
of Series C. The warrants vested immediately and were exercisable for a period of three years. In December
2001, all of these warrants expired.
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The Company determined the estimated fair value of each warrant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, and the following assumptions:

Series C

Warrants
RISK-TTEE INEETESE TALE......verveereeereeierrarirreeteeteeeestterees e sta e tess e eeteesessreemee see ameaae smeeseesmtesaneseeabaassanseesseneeoncs 5.00%
Expected dividend Yield ... et i 0.00%
CONTACIUAL TIf@.....cviieeieieie ettt ettt st b e s skttt e st bt b e e sa s bt e ke s seebe st e s b s et 3 years
EXpected VOIAIITY ..cccveririiiiiniii it e e 70%
Fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of issuance..........ccooevverenvinereicrnerennennn $7.47

(6) Debt

The Company has a $2,500,000 revolving line of credit with a maturity date of March 30, 2002, which it
expects to renew through March 2003. The line of credit is secured by all of the Company’s assets. The facility
contains certain financial covenants. The Company was out of compliance with the quick ratio covenant as of
June 30, 2001. However, the Company received a written waiver of the covenant as of June 30, 2001 and the
covenant was subsequently amended during the third quarter of 2001 to exclude deferred revenue in the
calculations. The Company was out of compliance with the maximum loss covenant as of December 31, 2001,
however the Company received a written waiver of the covenant in March 2002. The interest rate on the
revolving line of credit is an adjustable rate of prime, which was 4.75% as of December 31, 2001, plus 1.25%.
In December 2000, the Company drew $2,000,000 from the revolving line. The entire $2,000,000 draw was
repaid in January 2001. In December 2001, the Company drew $2,500,000 from the revolving line which
remained outstanding at December 30, 2001. The entire $2,500,000 draw was subsequently repaid in January
2002.

In connection with the bank line of credit, the Company issued warrants to the lender for 30,000 shares of
common stock. The exercise price of the warrants is equal to $11.00, the offering price of common shares sold
in connection with the Company’s initial public offering on December 15, 1999. The value of the warrants at the
date of issuance was $172,200, which was recorded as a deferred financing cost and was amortized as interest
expense over the original term of the revolving line of credit.

Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leased $2,244,057 of equipment under a $2,500,000 sale-leaseback agreement entered into in
the second quarter of 2000. At the end of the initial 36-month lease term, the Company is required to purchase
the equipment for 8.5% of the amount drawn.

As of December 31, 2001, the company has leased $455,432 of equipment under a $1,500,000 sale-
leaseback agreement entered into in the second quarter of 2001, and therefore has $1,044,568 available under
the new agreement. At the end of the initial 36-month lease term, the Company is required to purchase the
equipment for 8.25% of the amount drawn.

The lease agreements contain certain financial covenants. The Company was out of compliance with the
quick ratio covenant as of June 30, 2001. However, the Company received a written waiver of the covenant as of
June 30, 2001 and the covenant was subsequently amended during the third quarter 2001 year to exclude deferred
revenue in the calculations. The Company was out of compliance with the maximum loss covenant as of
December 31, 2001. The Company received a written waiver in March 2002. As of December 31, 2001 and
2000, the Company has leased $2,699,489 and $2,244,057 of equipment, respectively. Accumulated depreciation
on leased equipment was $1,004,772 and $262,990 as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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The following is a schedule by year of future minimum capital lease payments, together with the present
value of the net minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2001:

Year ending December 31,

2002 .ttt e ettt ettt stk s Rt b e st eR b eA e Re oS a b e et ke e he b e sbeebe b ene ekt bne b st et atea $1,027,785
2003 ettt b e bt h e ekt et E et et ee ek e s ket etk e s et e ke re st ebe st et ek et esean 877,913
2003 ettt ettt etk ek st se ekt st abe et e R b e ek st se ek e e e a e b se b neeb ek e st et et nranen 134,537
Total MIiNIMUM [€ASE PAYIMENLS ...ccuerveriiieirreriieent ittt ate e ren e en et n e e eeeeeanas 2,040,235
Less: amount representing inteIESt ........cocoviuiiiiiininenercreere st e siee s sieseas s siesenean (247,684)
Present value of future minimum lease PAYMENLS.......cccouvieeerveereeeeesienereeieeeer e seere e e 1,792,551
Current portion of capital lease ObIIZAtIONS ........ccccieriiieiinienicencenie e 847,047
Long-term portion of capital lease Obligations ...........ccooveevivverirverinieriee e e raeer e $ 945,504

Total interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $269,932, $317,439 and
$23,110, respectively. Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 includes $0,
$164,128 and $8,072, respectively, related to warrants for common stock issued in connection with the bank line
of credit. Interest expense related to the capital leasing agreements was $252,694 and $114,955 in 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

(7) Other Related Party Transactions

On June 23, 2000, the Company issued a $271,000 secured promissory note to a former executive officer of
the Company. The note is a full recourse note and is secured by the common stock of the Company owned by
the former executive officer. The note was originally due on December 31, 2000. Interest accrued on the note
through December 31, 2000 was paid during the first quarter of 2001. The note was extended until April 30,
2002 and began to bear interest at 9% per annum as of April 1, 2001. The principal, together with accrued but
unpaid interest due on the outstanding unpaid balance, is payable in monthly installments through April 30, 2002.
In November 2001, the Company purchased 14,935 of the pledged shares of the Company’s common stock from
the former executive officer for $3.00 per share, or $44,805, in lieu of cash payment on the note. These shares of
common stock were immediately retired and are no longer outstanding. As of December 31, 2001, $117,430
remains outstanding on the note receivable. In January 2002, the Company purchased 15,801 of the pledged
shares of the Company’s common stock from the former executive officer for $3.00 per share, or $47,403, in
lieu of cash payment on the note.

(8) Commitments And Contingencies

Operating Lease Obligations

The Company leases office space and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. At
December 31, 2001 the aggregate future minimum lease commitments were as follows:

Year ending December 31,

20 ettt e e — e ettt e e b e et oo e e e — et ea—— e etaeabteeeabaeeatbeaenraeeneaeeneaaaas $ 846,624
2003 bttt e e te e bt e eat ettt e b e eh s ere s e besr e st eaaesbeerbenrensbenes 203,485
2004 ... e e et et b e et e e e bt e h e e aaesabesebe et e e abaeaer e e beatbe e b b e sbaesrarebaan 35,297
2005 ettt et e e et b e e ae et e e eatees b e eb s e bt e bt e erbenabe e EeaeReabeeraresentenneenars 4,626
TRETEATIET .veiiviiieeei et ettt ettt e et eae e s st e e ss s eeesese s sebaaeensbesestbeasaraeesssnenases —
$1,090,032
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Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $1,129,006, $1,078,728 and
$592,590, respectively. The Company signed a Letter of Intent in February 2002 to lease approximately 47,000
square feet of space at a new headquarters facility in Denver beginning in July 2002.

Employee Benefit Plan

Effective January 1, 1999, the Company adopted a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees are permitted to contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation.
In addition, the Company may make discretionary and/or matching contributions on behalf of participating
employees. No such contributions were made in 2001, 2000 or 1999.

Legal Matters

Y

The Company is exposed to asserted and unasserted legal claims encountered in the normal course of |
business. Management believes that the ultimate resolution of any such matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the operating results or the financial position of the Company.

(9) Major Customers

Sales to one customer represented approximately 10% of the Company’s revenue for 2001. No customers
represented 10% or more of the Company’s revenue for 2000 or 1999. One customer individually accounted for
more than 10% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2001. The loss of such customers could result in a
significant reduction of revenues.

(10) Income Taxes

Components of the income tax provision applicable to federal and state income taxes are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Current benefit:
FEAETAL .. oveeeeeeee e eeeseves et es o aneee e ses s e s eeeeene e s eesenes $ — 3 — 8 —
AL et et a b e rete e s e e s resesenenraennre — —_ —_
TOtAL. e e e —_ — —
Deferred benefit:
Federal.....coooviiiiiiiiiiiieeire et ettt ctr et s b be st st s s st s s (3,615,988)  (9,569,342) (6,408,455)
SEALE ettt ettt ee et e e bt e e b e s b e sab e b e s breeaes s sbeseaereaes (659,454)  (1,066,298) (1,168,716)
TOLAL oottt e vt eeer e e e e s tb e e et sbe et b e s be e (4,275,442) (10,635,640) (7,577,171)
Total gross tax benefit.........ccoviereriieerienieiie et 4,275,442) (10,635,640) (7,577,171)
Valuation allOWANCE .......c.oovviiiiiiieieiereii i s eetrer s e saenrr e s ernrreeses 4,275,442 10,635,640 7,577,171
Net tax DENEAL...cviiviiviceiieeecieereere ettt eee e sereeaeas $ — —  $ —
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The difference between the statutory federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate is
summarized as follows: :

2001 2000 1999

Federal iNCOIME tAX TALE .vvvvieiiiriieeieeiiiitieesesinreee s streeassiertesesstbeeassesnsaesssensrnssessensannesean 35.0% 350% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) as a result of—
State income taxes net of federal benefit

................................................................ 39%  39% 39%

Stock based COMPENSALION . ......cocveiiiieriiic i et 22% B.0)% (1.9%
L@ 11113 O OO U TSP UT TR TOU RSO T OO TR UT PO 04H% 04% 0.6)%
Valuation allOWAINCE .......ooiieiiicier ettt et e e rteesbee st e esanesraesennessaenane e 36.3)% (34.3)% (36.4)%
EIfectiVe iNCOME TAX TALE .....ciuveeeiiieiiereeeirieetveeeeraeestbeseeeeceraeeeevesesbssesssbeaestaeseeraesessaaans — % — % — %

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the following:

December 31,

2001 2000
Deferred tax assets—
Non-current:
Net operating 10ss carryforward(1) .......ccocovervcvirmiriiinriniere e s $ 25,449,721 §$ 20,081,388
(1 11=) SRR e ——— . —aa e e sttt e st e asnereinnens 25,057 132,521
Current: .
GIant HabilitIES .oeeiiireire ittt ettt e et etene s eretveee s e tateasneennnnes 1,017,624 1,564,715
DeferTed TEVENUE ....oooiveiiieeee vttt et e e b bbbt e e s e e nenaneeeeas 103,454 234,621
ONET ottt r e bbb e et e e st b e staeete e e st s arsessbeeatesataeeabesateessessrnneereeats 138,109 172,943
Total deferred taX ASSEIS ...t iviie et ee et e e et e st e b ree e e e e eanrees 26,733,965 22,186,188
Valuation alloWANCE(1) .....cooviiiee et eee ettt ee et e s e eeae e (25,239,737)  (20,964,295)
Net deferred taX @SSEES .uvviiiririrrireiiiireriee et ieeee e te e eesieeeessaiereeseasrreresertarsasaseeaases 1,494,228 1,221,893
Deferred tax liabilities—
Depreciation on property and eqUiPMENt.........cccccoverieccrvernreencnreninoreneree e reeane (396,225) —
Capitalized software costs........c........ ettt e e e e —r e e ettt e s —te s oo i e teeeeiaraees (1,098,003) (1,221,893)
Total deferred tax HaDILILIES ....ccccvvvviiiiiciriie ettt e e e e (1,494,228) (1,221,893)
Net deferred tax assets and HADITES ...o.coviiverieii ettt ser et er e ereeees $ — 9 —

(1) The Company’s deferred tax asset related to net operating losses includes the tax effect of approximately
$1,565,000 related to tax deductions for non-qualifying stock-based compensation in excess of amounts
recorded for financial reporting purposes as of December 31, 2001. If and when the valuation allowance
related to these amounts is reversed, the Company will recognize this benefit as an increase to Additional
Paid-in Capital as opposed to income tax expense.

From its inception, the Company has generated losses for both financial reporting and tax purposes.
Accordingly, for income tax return reporting purposes, the Company may utilize approximately $65,000,000 of
net operating loss carryforwards, which begin to expire in 2011. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions
which may limit the net operating loss carryforwards available to be used in any given year if certain events
occur, including significant changes in ownership interests. Such transactions may have occurred during the
three-year period ended December 31, 2001.

The Company has determined that $25,239,737 and $20,964,295 of deferred tax assets as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively, did not satisfy the realization criteria set forth in SFAS No. 109, primarily due to
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the Company’s operating losses since inception. Accordingly, a valuation allowance was recorded against the
Company’s deferred tax assets. Should management conclude that these deferred tax assets are, at least in part,

realizable, the valuation allowance will be reversed to the extent of such realizability. The reversal of the
valuation allowance, if any, would be recognized as deferred income tax benefit.

The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with
the Securities Exchange Commission.
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4.1%*
10.1#*
10.2%**
10.3%%*
10.5%

10.6*
10.9%

10.13*
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10.15%
10.16*
10.17%
10.18*
10.19
10.20*
10.21%
10,224
10,230
10.24%4%
10,25
10.26# %5
10.29
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

+ Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Separation Agreement and Release Between Rob Helmick and Company.

Registration Agreement between Company and Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I,
LP.

Stock Option Agreement between Company and Blumenstein/Thorne Information Partners I,
LP '
Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement made as of December 21, 1998, by and
among the Registrant and each of the Parties listed on the Schedules attached thereto.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its outside directors.
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant expiring June 11, 2000, issued pursuant to the Unit
Purchase Agreement dated June 11, 1997.

Lease Agreement dated May 10, 1999 between Kennedy Center Partnership and the Company.
Lease Agreement dated May 10, 1999 between Kennedy Center Partnership and the Company.
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

1999 Stock Incentive Plan.

Employment Agreement dated as of April 12, 1999 between the Company and Charles P.
Schneider.

Employment Agreement dated as of August 9, 1999 between the Company and Douglas H.
Kelsall.

Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued October 21, 1999,

U.S. Department of Commerce Financial Assistance Award.

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 12, 2001 between the Company and
Charles P. Schneider.

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 12, 2001 between the Company and
Douglas H. Kelsall.

Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 5, 1999 between the Company
and Robert Haimes.

Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 4, 1998 between the Company
and Mark Brodsky.

Employment Agreement, as amended, dated as of November 29, 2000 between the Company
and Nancy Roecker.

Severance Agreement, as amended, dated as of July 3, 2001 between the Company and
Charles P. Schneider.

Employment Agreement dated as of July 31, 2001 between the Company and Steven P.
Lindauer.

Employment Agreement dated as of January 7, 2002 between the Company and Dr. Edward O.
Gould.

Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

* Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-78365).

** Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000.

*** Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2000.
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Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001.

Exhibits can be viewed at any SEC site.
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